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Management's Discussion and Analysis

(For the three month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017)
Certain statements in this Management's Discussion and
Analysis ("MD&A") constitute forward-looking statements
within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Forwardlooking statements include, but are not limited to, statements
made under the headings “Business Outlook” and “Risks and
Uncertainties” and other statements concerning the
Company's 2018 objectives, strategies to achieve those
objectives, as well as statements with respect to
management's beliefs, plans, estimates, and intentions, and
similar statements concerning anticipated future events,
results, circumstances, performance or expectations that are
not historical facts. Forward-looking statements generally can
be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such
as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, “will”, “expect”, “intend”,
“estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “should”, “plans” or
“continue”, or similar expressions suggesting future outcomes
or events. Such forward-looking statements reflect
management's current beliefs and are based on information
currently available to management.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
contemplated by such statements. Factors that could cause
such differences include the highly competitive nature of the
Company's industry, government regulation and funding and
other such risk factors described from time to time in the
reports and disclosure documents filed by the Company with
Canadian securities regulatory agencies and commissions.
This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may impact the
Company's forward-looking statements. These and other
factors should be considered carefully and readers should not
place undue reliance on the Company's forward-looking
statements. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no
assurance can be given as to any such future results, levels of
activity or achievements and neither the Company nor any
other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of these forward-looking statements. The
factors underlying current expectations are dynamic and
subject to change.
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Although the forward-looking statements contained in this
MD&A are based upon what management believes are
reasonable assumptions, there can be no assurance that
actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking
statements. Certain statements included in this MD&A may
be considered “financial outlook” for purposes of applicable
securities laws, and such financial outlook may not be
appropriate for purposes other than this MD&A. All forwardlooking statements in this MD&A are qualified by these
cautionary statements. Other than specifically required by
applicable laws, we are under no obligation and we expressly
disclaim any such obligation to update or alter the forwardlooking statements whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise except as may be required by law.
These forward looking statements are made as of the date of
this MD&A.
The following is a discussion of the consolidated financial
position and the income and comprehensive income of
Centric Health Corporation, (“Centric Health”, "Centric" or
the “Company”) for the three month periods ended March
31, 2018 and 2017 and of certain factors that the Company
believes may affect its prospective financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations. The MD&A should be read in
conjunction with the unaudited condensed interim
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the
three month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. The
unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial
statements for the three month periods ended March 31,
2018 and 2017 are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards 34 Interim Financial Reporting
("IFRS"). The Company's significant accounting policies are
summarized in detail in note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2017. Unless
otherwise specified, amounts reported in this MD&A are in
millions, except shares and per share amounts and
percentages. The following MD&A is presented as of May 8,
2018. All amounts are disclosed in Canadian dollars.
Additional information about the Company, including the
most recently filed Annual Information Form, is available on
www.sedar.com.
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About Centric Health
Corporate Profile
Centric Health is focused on providing the highest levels of
care and delivering quality, innovation and sustainable value
to seniors, patients, clients and stakeholders, with the
primary objective of ensuring optimal healthcare outcomes.
Our dedicated staff and organizational culture is committed
to a Seniors and Patient-first imperative.
Our care-oriented strategy focuses on our strengths in
healthcare service delivery and quality outcomes in two core
areas:
1.

2.

Specialty Pharmacy - we are one of Canada’s
leading, trusted providers of comprehensive
specialty pharmacy services and solutions to seniors,
with an unwavering commitment to the highest
standards of quality and care to ensure the best
outcomes.
Surgical and Medical Centres - through our national
network, we are uniquely positioned to service the
growing healthcare needs in key markets, address
capacity issues and reduce wait times.

With services that address growing demand within the
Canadian healthcare system, Centric Health’s unparalleled
national care delivery platform provides significant potential
for future expansion and growth.
Our long-term strategy focuses on organically growing core
high-margin business units with strong profitability and
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targeting select expansion opportunities to further our
national reach in our core focus areas.
Above all, Centric Health has an unwavering commitment to
employ the highest service and ethical standards and deliver
a superior quality of care. This is our unique brand of care.

Our Vision
Centric Health's vision is to be Canada's preeminent
independent healthcare services provider, world renowned
for quality, innovation and delivering sustainable value to
seniors, patients, clients and stakeholders. We are passionate
about working with people who entrust us with their care to
result in leading healthcare outcomes. Your Care. Our Focus.

Commitment to Quality
The latest research and innovations in healthcare – and our
own quality control measures – continually help us improve
the Centric Health experience for all of our seniors, patients
and clients.
Our commitment to quality initiatives has resulted in Centric
Health being accredited by various Colleges of Physicians,
Ministries and Associations across Canada.
It is an honour to be recognized by these associations for
meeting independent, nationally and internationally
recognized standards of excellence in our healthcare
programs.
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Highlights for the Three Month Period Ended March 31, 2018
Quarterly Revenue

Quarterly Adjusted EBITDA

($millions)

($millions)

Highlights for the First Quarter of 2018
(All comparative figures are for the first quarter 2017)

•

Revenue from continuing operations increased to $44.5
million from $43.6 million
–

–

•

–
–

•

Revenue generated in Specialty Pharmacy was
relatively flat due to the similar number of beds
serviced year-over-year, with the slight increase
associated with increased influenza outbreaks in the
first quarter of 2018; and
Higher surgical procedure and healthcare service
volumes at certain Surgical and Medical Centres
locations.

Adjusted EBITDA1 from continuing operations declined
14% to $3.8 million from $4.5 million
–

–
–

–

•

Excess labour costs due to labour inefficiencies,
reduction of revenue and Adjusted EBITDA due to
2017 ODB fee reductions and increased costs related
to business development and the servicing of newly
on-boarded homes;
Partially offset by growth in the Surgical and Medical
Centres business; and
Adjusted EBITDA1 margin from continuing operations
decreased to 9% from 10% in the same period in the
prior year.

Expansive business re-engineering plan in Specialty
Pharmacy segment to be completed by end of 2018
–

Focused on utilization of technology to maximize
efficiencies through further automation of processes
and minimizing manual activities;
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Scaling capital investment through consolidation of
sites and utilization of high-volume fulfillment
centres;
Comprehensive workflow analysis to optimize the
labour model, allow for a more dynamic cost base
and gain efficiencies through centralization of
functions; and
Company has increased its targeted annualized cost
savings from $4.0 million to $7.5 million, of which $2
million has been implemented as of May 2018.

Completed additional investment of $0.5 million in
AceAge Inc. ("AceAge"), to fund the production of the
first batch of its home-based automated drug delivery
appliance ("Karie").
–

Karie is an innovative device designed to solve the
medication compliance issues of individuals taking
multiple medications, particularly seniors living
independently, or without full-time care;

–

The Company also received a further 2.5% in equity
for its provision of certain ongoing support and
consulting services, increasing its ownership interest
in AceAge to 17.5%; and

–

The remaining investment of $0.5 million would
increase the Company's ownership stake to 22.5%.

Defined and calculated in Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures
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•

New agreement signed between pan-Canadian
Pharmaceutical Alliance ("pCPA") and Canadian Generic
Pharmaceutical Association ("CGPA")
–

–

–

The pCPA, which represents participating federal,
provincial, and territorial public drug plans,
announced a new 5-year agreement with the CGPA
with respect to the pricing of generic drugs in
Canada;
As of April 1, 2018, the prices of nearly 70 of the
most commonly prescribed drugs in Canada,
including drugs used to treat high blood pressure,
high cholesterol, and depression that are collectively
used by millions of Canadians were reduced by 25% 40%, resulting in overall discounts of up to 90% off
the price of their brand-name equivalents; and
The annualized impact of these changes is estimated
to be $2 million which will be offset by cost savings
realized through the business re-engineering plan.

Highlights subsequent to quarter-end
•

Appointed David Murphy as President and CEO
–
–
–

•

Entered into collaborative program with Think Research
Corporation to digitize Specialty Pharmacy operations
–
–

•

Expiration of Alberta Blue Cross agreement,
announcement of new funding framework
–
–

–

Alberta Health announced a new funding framework
to take effect May 17, 2018;
Amongst other things, the announcement stated
reductions to dispensing fees in the province and
new limits on the frequency of dispensing fees and
care plan follow-ups; and
In response to the changes in the new framework,
we are evaluating and implementing a number of
significant changes to our operating and service
model in Alberta which are included as part of the
additional $3.5 million cost savings targeted in the
business re-engineering plan.

Over a decade of senior leadership experience in
Canadian healthcare;
Most recently with Cardinal Health, serving as
President of Canadian business, leading the strategic
transformation of the organization; and
Will bring a focus on executing the Company's
growth strategies, while developing strong
organizational culture and delivery of operational
and service excellence.

–

Solution will digitize the Company's medication
review program, eliminating paperwork duplication
in the pharmacy clinical review process;
Provides cost savings and labour efficiencies while
offering valuable clinical insights to the Company's
partner homes through real-time information; and
Maximizes safety of seniors through data analytics
capabilities.

Through the business re-engineering plan, the Company
expects that it can mitigate the impact of these regulatory
changes by improving operational efficiencies and reducing
costs in order to deliver year-over-year Adjusted EBITDA
growth in 2018.
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Key Performance Metrics - First Quarter of 2018

Revenue $33.5 million

Adjusted EBITDA $3.5 million

Revenue $10.9 million

Adjusted EBITDA $1.5 million

The Company uses a number of financial and non-financial metrics to assess its performance. The table below summarizes our
most relevant metrics. The full results and discussion of each metric are subsequently presented in this report.
Growth

Total Revenue
Specialty Pharmacy Beds
Surgery Centre Utilization
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA Margin
Corporate Office Expenses at 4% of Revenue
Reported incidents
Cash Flows from Operations
Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA
Free Cash Flow

Profitability

Quality
Liquidity

= Favourable

= Stable

= Unfavourable
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What We Do
Delivering innovative solutions through networks of
Specialty Pharmacies and Surgical and Medical Centres to
seniors, patients and clients to augment the Canadian
healthcare system.

Revenue by Segment

Period ended March 31, 2018 ($millions)

Centric Health provides expert solutions and trusted care
through a national community of experts who can be
accessed quickly and who have a track record of achieving
superior healthcare outcomes and providing outstanding
service.
Two key service areas:
•

Specialty Pharmacy: pharmaceutical dispensing and
clinical consulting services to long term care homes
and retirement communities across Canada.

•

Surgical and Medical Centres: a broad range of
procedures in five state-of-the-art surgical facilities
with a commitment to quality care, patient safety and
personal one-on-one attention.

Centric’s clients:
•
•
•
•

Long-term care and retirement home operators
Corporations
Government agencies
Seniors/Patients

Adjusted EBITDA by Segment
Period ended March 31, 2018 ($millions)

Addressing the growing needs of the Canadian healthcare
system:
•
•
•
•

Aging population
Increasing consumption and utilization driving higher
costs
Increasing wait times and growing demand
Demand for choice and better outcomes
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Specialty Pharmacy
•

A national network of 19 pharmacy fulfillment centres
with pharmacy teams dedicated to seniors.

•

High-volume supplier of medications and related medical
management services (including clinical pharmacy,
pharmacovigilance and related ancillary services).

•

Provides pharmaceutical dispensing services for
employees insured by corporate health plans.

•

Serves more than 28,000 seniors in over 440 seniors
communities (long term care facilities, retirement homes
and assisted living facilities) in four provinces.
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Surgical and Medical Centres
The Surgical and Medical Centres segment is one of Canada's
largest independent surgical providers with five facilities
across four provinces. It serves a diversified customer base
with private paid non-insured surgeries and diagnostics,
government outsourcing of insured surgeries and diagnostics
and other procedures funded by third-party payors (including
Workers Compensation). It also owns Canada's first Centre of
Excellence in Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery.
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Core Value Proposition

Quality: Centric Health has an unwavering commitment to
employ the highest service and ethical standards and deliver
a superior quality of care.
Seniors and Patients First: We are passionate about
producing leading healthcare outcomes and working with our
seniors, patients and clients to realize and maintain optimum
health.

Innovation and Technology: To address the challenges in the
Canadian healthcare system of long wait times and spiraling
costs amidst an aging population, Centric Health is dedicated
to applying innovative and cost-effective solutions through
reinvestment in leading-edge technology and infrastructure.

Strategic Priorities
1.

Grow organically
•

Leverage the Company’s value proposition with
seniors, patients and clients to win new contracts
• Expand scope of services to leverage existing customer
base and attract new customers
• Maximize capacity utilization at existing facilities
2. Improve business operations
•
•
•
•

Optimize labour models and rely on innovative
technology and economies of scale to drive efficiencies
Maintain standards of exceptional care
Manage costs at corporate office to ensure a lean
shared service model and maximize overall profitability
Enhance quality reporting metrics that demonstrate
value to clients with emphasis on best healthcare
outcomes while striving to gain efficiencies in order to
maximize value to all seniors, patients, clients and
stakeholders.
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3.

Make strategic acquisitions
•

Pursue opportunities that will strengthen value
proposition and expand national platform
• Focus on businesses with strong margins and cash
flows, as well as low ongoing capital expenditures and
working capital requirements
• Apply strict criteria to ensure alignment, accretion and
return on invested capital
4. Reduce debt and strengthen balance sheet
•
•

Target for total debt to Adjusted EBITDA of less than
four times over medium term
Utilize effective working capital management to
improve cash flows
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Growth Strategies and Outlook
Specialty Pharmacy
Centric Health’s Specialty Pharmacy segment is pursuing a
multi-faceted growth strategy to increase revenue and expand
Adjusted EBITDA margins through the diversification of its
offerings and leveraging its best-in-class platform to offer the
highest levels of services and outcomes to more Canadians,
with a focus on the following areas:
•
•
•

Maximize utilization of its existing infrastructure
through new RFP wins with local, regional and national
seniors community operators;
Expand clinical capabilities to strengthen its value
proposition to its customers and drive new, higher
margin revenue streams;
Execute on strategic acquisition opportunities to
expand its network and geographic coverage and
benefit from economies of scale;

•
•

Increase product and service offerings to seniors; and
Reduce cost structure and benefit from economies of
scale.

Given the public funding model and limited payor base for its
Specialty Pharmacy services, the Company is actively
pursuing strategies to mitigate its exposure to government
regulatory changes and geographic concentration by
diversifying its product and service offerings, entering into
new geographies and expanding its payor base.
Through this diversification strategy, coupled with the
business re-engineering and cost containment initiatives and
expected organic growth across the national platform, the
Company believes it will be able to maintain an Adjusted
EBITDA margin in the low- to mid-teens over the mediumterm without compromising the quality of senior care.

A longer term opportunity is available through serving the needs of seniors remaining in their homes and through the
increasing scope of practice for pharmacists.
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In addition to these four million seniors currently living at home, there are 1,000 Canadians reaching the age of 65 every day.
This, along with the increased life expectancy of Canadians provides favourable demographic trends for Specialty Pharmacy.
To pursue the opportunities provided by these demographic trends, and in line with its desire to expand its product and
service offerings to seniors, the Company signed a strategic distribution and supply agreement and made an accompanying
strategic investment in AceAge for its home-based automated drug delivery appliance, Karie.
Designed for individuals taking multiple medications, particularly seniors living independently or without full-time care, Karie
is an innovative device that simplifies complex medication regimes by automatically delivering prescription drugs, in the
correct dosage and at the right time. As the device is completely compatible with the Company's automated dispensing and
packaging systems, this partnership will provide the Company with opportunities for additional Specialty Pharmacy service
offerings to seniors living in the Company's contracted retirement homes as well as those in their own homes.
To further enhance and diversify its service offerings, the Company is also developing a holistic medical cannabis strategy
within the seniors' communities that it serves. The Company is uniquely positioned through its presence in long-term care
and retirement homes, as well as its expansion to seniors currently living at home, to provide a comprehensive service that
addresses the complexities of medical cannabis use by seniors. The Company intends to partner with home operators and
licensed producers to achieve the best possible solutions for the seniors that it serves. The Company has applied for a salesonly distribution license in Canada, which is expected to be issued in the near future.
In pursuit of reductions to its cost structure and increases in operational efficiency, the Company has partnered with Think
Research Corporation to digitize the Company's medication review program, which will eliminate paperwork duplication in the
pharmacy clinical review process while increasing seniors' safety through access to real-time information and data analytics.

Surgical and Medical Centres
Centric Health’s Surgical and Medical Centres segment is
pursuing a multi-faceted growth strategy to increase
utilization of its facilities while maintaining the strategic
imperative of the highest standards of quality care and
outcomes. The strategy focuses on the following areas:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Grow third-party payor services (insurers, benefits
providers, employers) through:
– Relationships with physicians and health
authorities;
– Accreditations and facilities quality to support
preferred provider status; and,
– Expanded diagnostics offerings;
Increased outsourcing from governments;
Coordinate interprovincial and foreign procedures;
Grow volume of uninsured services;
Develop innovative and efficient pricing and delivery
models through activity based costing and related data
analytics;
Marketing and promotions, including expanded online
marketing and mobile technology;
Add new technologies; and
Develop Centres of Excellence, as has been achieved
with the Company's Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery
centres.

As the Company continues to pursue opportunities to
increase utilization within its Surgical and Medical Centres
network, due to its limited scale, the segment remains
susceptible to one-time events which may impact Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin, though the overall
growth in revenue is indicative of continued progress in the
segment.

False Creek Surgical Centre, Vancouver, British Columbia
Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis
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Selected Financial Information
The following selected financial information as at and for the three month period ended March 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
have been derived from the consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with those financial
statements and related notes. The results of acquisitions are added from their respective dates of completion. Non-IFRS
measures are defined and reconciled in the Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures section.

(thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Revenue
Income (loss) from continuing operations

480

127

(1,100)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before interest expense and
income taxes

267

936

(1,341)

EBITDA from continuing operations
Adjusted EBITDA2 from continuing operations
Per share - Basic and diluted

2,653
3,825
$0.02

3,260
4,456
$0.02

1,598
2,878
$0.02

Adjusted EBITDA Margin from continuing operations

8.6%

10.2%

7.1%

Adjusted EBITDA2
Per share - Basic and diluted
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

3,825
$0.02
8.6%

4,456
$0.02
10.2%

2,821
$0.02
6.9%

Net loss
Per share - Basic and diluted3

(1,699)
($0.01)

(3,870)
($0.02)

(10,022)
($0.06)

(316)

1,114

(7,208)

144,278
125,202

150,026
137,194

135,665
130,300

2

Cash provided by (used in) operations
Total assets
Total liabilities
2

For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018
2017
2016
$
$
$
44,472
43,563
40,694

Defined in Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures

3

Earnings per share is based on the earnings attributable to shareholders of
Centric Health Corporation.
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Results of Consolidated Operations for the Three Month Periods Ended March
31, 2018 and 2017
Operating and Other Expenses as a Percentage of Revenue
For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018
2017
$
%
$
%
44.5
100 %
43.6
100 %

$ millions

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Healthcare services and supplies
Employee costs
Other operating expenses
Corporate office expenses
Total operating expenses
Other expenses:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Transactions, restructuring and other costs
Net interest expense
Income tax expense
Total other expenses
Adjusted EBITDA
• Revenue from continuing operations for the three month
period ended March 31, 2018 increased by 2.1%, or $0.9
million, to $44.5 million from $43.6 million for the same
period in the prior year.
• Revenue increased as a result of marginal revenue growth
in Specialty Pharmacy associated with the influenza
outbreak and revenue growth in Surgical and Medical
Centres driven by higher surgical procedure and
healthcare service volumes.
• Going forward, the Company expects continued organic
growth from each of the segments; however, the timing
and cycles of the contract procurement process (and time
required to realize revenue from formal procurement RFP
processes), could result in some fluctuation of organic
growth rates over time.
Operating expenses consist of four major components:
• healthcare services and supplies;
• employee costs;
• other operating expenses; and,
• corporate office expenses
Healthcare services and supplies includes practitioner
consultant fees associated with the surgical services, salaries
Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis

29.3
4.7
5.5
1.3
40.8

65.8
10.6
12.4
2.9
91.7

%
%
%
%
%

27.7
4.5
5.3
1.6
39.1

63.5
10.3
12.2
3.7
89.7

%
%
%
%
%

2.3
0.5
0.5
1.7
0.3
5.3

5.2
1.1
1.1
3.8
0.7
11.9

%
%
%
%
%
%

2.4
0.3
1.7
3.8
1.0
9.2

5.5
0.7
3.9
8.7
2.3
21.1

%
%
%
%
%
%

8.5 %

4.5

10.3 %

3.8

and benefits of employees directly involved in the provision
of services in each business segment, the cost of medical
supplies and the cost of pharmaceuticals sold. Employee
costs include salaries and benefits of employees working
directly in each business segment that are not directly
involved in the provision of services. Other operating
expenses include occupancy costs, communication,
insurance, advertising and promotion and administrative
expenses incurred at the operational level. Corporate office
expenses include shared service costs for the operating
segments, salaries and benefits, occupancy costs, insurance,
communication, advertising and promotion, public company
costs, board of directors and sub-committee fees and other
costs of the corporate office.
•
•

Overall operating expenses for the three month period
increased by 4.4% to $40.8 million as compared to $39.1
million for the same period in the prior year.
Cost of healthcare services and supplies for the three
month period ended March 31, 2018 increased by 5.7%
to $29.3 million as compared to $27.7 million for the
same period in the prior year, largely due to the
increased labour costs in Specialty Pharmacy associated
with operational inefficiencies and one-time costs
associated with inventory management in preparation
15

•

•

for the pricing changes expected on certain generic
pharmaceuticals.
Employee expenses for the three month period
increased by 5.9% to $4.7 million as compared to $4.5
million for the same period in the prior year as a result of
the aforementioned labour inefficiencies.
Corporate office expenses for the three month period
decreased by 23.0% to $1.3 million as compared to $1.6
million for the same period in the prior year due to
labour savings from executive vacancies. Corporate office
expense as a percentage of revenue for the three month
period was 2.8% as compared to 3.7% for the same
period in the prior year.

Transaction, restructuring and other costs includes legal,
consulting and due diligence fees directly related to business
combinations or business restructuring, and costs associated
with new customer contract implementation, as well as
severance costs, start-up costs for new initiatives and legal
and consulting costs for business restructuring.
•

Interest expense for the three month period was $1.7 million
as compared to $3.8 million for the comparable period in the
prior year. Interest expense relates to the Term Facility,
Subordinated Facility, New Revolving Facility and capital
leases. Interest expense excluding amortization and accretion
for the three month period was $1.5 million as compared to
$1.5 million in the same period in the prior year.
Income tax expense for the three month period was $0.3
million compared to an expense of $1.0 million for the
comparable period in the prior year. As at March 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017, the Company had gross loss carry
forwards amounting to $42.0 million and $43.1 million,
respectively, that can be carried forward against future
taxable income based upon the level of historical taxable
income and projections for future taxable income over the
periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible. The
Company did not recognize deferred tax assets of $7.0 million
($7.5 million as of December 31, 2017) with respect to these
losses.

Transaction, restructuring and other costs for the three
month period decreased by 69.7% to $0.5 million as
compared to $1.7 million for the same period in the prior
year due to costs associated with on-boarding new beds
under the new contract with a large national customer in
the prior year.

Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis
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Results of Segmented Operations
This section presents the results of operations for the three
month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 for the two
operating segments of the Company. Operating segments, as
reported to the Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM"), are as follows: Specialty Pharmacy and Surgical
and Medical Centres.
For the three month periods ended March 31,
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Specialty Pharmacy
Surgical and Medical Centres
Corporate
Total

The support services provided through the corporate offices
largely support the operations of the Company. Certain
amounts of these costs have been allocated to the operating
segments based on the extent of corporate management's
involvement in the operations of the reportable segment
during the period.

Revenue
2018
2017
$
$
33,539
32,907
10,933
10,656
—
—
44,472
43,563

Q1 Revenue by Segment
($millions)

2018
$
3,537
1,538
(1,250)
3,825

Adjusted EBITDA
2017
%
$
10.5
4,924
14.1
1,177
—
(1,645)
8.6
4,456

%
15.0
11.0
—
10.2

Q1 Adjusted EBITDA by Segment
($millions)

Specialty Pharmacy
Three month period ended March 31, 2018:
• Revenue increased 1.9% to $33.5 million from $32.9
million.
• Adjusted EBITDA decreased 28.2% to $3.5 million from
$4.9 million and Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased to
10.5% from 15.0%.
With a similar number of beds serviced compared to the
same period in the prior year, revenue in Specialty Pharmacy
remained relatively flat. The increase in revenue for the
three month period ended March 31, 2018 was primarily due
to the increase in influenza cases across Canada compared to
the same period in the prior year.
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The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA for the three month period
ended March 31, 2018 was attributable to the following
factors:
• The 2017 Ontario Drug Benefit ("ODB") fee reduction of
2.8% of the sum of the dispensing fee, mark-up and
compounding fee for certain drug claims, which resulted
in an overall reduction in revenue and Adjusted EBITDA of
$140 thousand;
• The Company incurs costs associated with the provision of
educational and administrative services for the homes
that it serves. These services were not provided to homes
that were off-boarding during 2017. As a result, costs
associated with these services were higher in the three
17

•

•

•

•

month period ended March 31, 2018 as the Company onboarded homes under its contract with a large national
customer;
One-time labour costs required for the management of
inventory in anticipation of the pricing changes expected
on April 1, 2018 due to the new agreement signed by
pCPA and CGPA for certain generic pharmaceuticals;
Margin pressure due to provincial regulatory changes and
the previously mentioned generic pharmaceutical pricing
changes, resulting in increased industry competition and
increased business development costs;
Increased labour costs due to operational inefficiencies
which were identified in the fourth quarter of 2017 as
part of the business re-engineering plan for which cost
savings are not expected to be realized until after the first
quarter of 2018; and
Changes in the composition of beds serviced across the
country, with the funding models varying by province for
each type of bed, resulting in a larger proportion of lower
margin generating beds being serviced in the three
months ended March 31, 2018 compared to the same
period in the prior year.
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Surgical and Medical Centres
Three month period ended March 31, 2018:
• Revenue increased 2.6% to $10.9 million from $10.7
million.
• Adjusted EBITDA increased 30.7% to $1.5 million from
$1.2 million and Adjusted EBITDA margin improved to
14.1% from 11.0%.
Growth in revenues was driven by higher surgical volumes, in
particular at the Don Mills and SmartShape facilities (Toronto)
and increased revenue from the Family Practice at False
Creek Healthcare Centre (Vancouver), which was partially
offset by lower surgical volumes at Canadian Surgery
Solutions (Calgary).
The significant increase in Adjusted EBITDA was due to a net
increase in higher margin services performed as well as
labour savings achieved through operational efficiencies.

Corporate Office
Corporate office expenses were reduced during the first
quarter of 2018 as a result of executive vacancies which
resulted in a reduction in labour costs. The run rate for
corporate office expenses as a proportion of revenue from
continuing operations, inclusive of the labour costs
associated with the incoming CEO, remains below its target of
4%.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company manages its capital structure based on the
funds available to the Company in order to support the
continuation and expansion of its operations. The Board
establishes quantitative return on capital criteria, which it
reviews with management on a regular basis. The Company
defines capital to include share capital, warrants and the
stock option component of its shareholders' equity as well as
its borrowings and contingent consideration. In addition to

the cash flow generated by operations, the Company relies
on debt and equity financing from both arm's length and
related parties to execute on its stated business strategy. In
order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company
may seek financing through the issuance of securities such as
convertible debt, or by replacing existing debt with debt on
terms more consistent with the Company's needs.

Significant Transactions
Date
March 2, 2017

Transaction
Early converted the outstanding principal balance
of the 6.5% Convertible Notes that were set to
mature on July 31, 2017 ("July 2017 CDs") ($9.1
million principal outstanding) and the unsecured
6.0% Jamon promissory note ($5.0 million
principal outstanding) to common shares of the
Company pursuant to the terms of each
instrument.

Proceeds
July 2017 CDs and Jamon promissory note had
conversion prices of $0.52 and $0.46 per common
share, resulting in the issuance of 17,461,538 and
10,869,565 common shares of the Company,
respectively
Holders of the July 2017 CDs and the Jamon
promissory note received 500,000 warrants and
1,400,000 warrants, respectively, exercisable at
$1.00 per share and expiring on the third
anniversary from the date of issuance
The exercise price for the warrants represented a
premium of 26.6% to the closing price of the
Company's common shares of $0.79 on February
16, 2017
Interest was paid to the holders of July 2017 CDs
and the Jamon promissory note in the amount of
$0.4 million each
Conversion of the two instruments reduced the
Company's outstanding debt by $14.1 million
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Completion of Debt Refinancing Plan
Following the completion of the sale of substantially all of the
businesses within its Physiotherapy, Rehabilitation and
Medical Assessments segment, the Company made
substantial progress on strengthening its balance sheet,
including the reduction of debt through repayment,
conversion to equity and refinancing.
On May 3, 2017, the Company signed definitive agreements
with a syndicate of lenders comprised of three major
Canadian banks providing for new credit facilities in an
aggregate amount of $113.5 million, which closed on May 30,
2017. The new credit facilities are made up of $100 million in
senior secured facilities (the "Senior Facilities") and $13.5
million in a secured subordinated term credit facility (the
"Subordinated Facility") (collectively, the "New Credit
Facilities"). Subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, the
Company may increase the Senior Facilities by an additional
$25 million for total Senior Facilities of $125 million.
The New Credit Facilities were used to refinance the
Company’s previous debt instruments, including its (i)
revolving facility with capacity of up to $35,000 ("Revolving
Facility"), (ii) its 8.625% Notes previously due April 18, 2018
of $25,894 ("Notes") and (iii) its 6.75% unsecured
subordinated October 2017 convertible debt of $27,500
("October 2017 CDs"), and to provide capacity for potential
acquisitions, capital expenditures, organic growth initiatives
and general working capital and corporate purposes.
All of the New Credit Facilities are guaranteed by the
Company’s subsidiaries and secured by the assets of the
Company and each of its subsidiaries. Simultaneously with
the signing of the definitive agreements, the Company
delivered redemption notices to the holders of the Notes and
the October 2017 CDs in accordance with the terms of their
respective indentures.
The Senior Facilities are structured as follows: (i) a revolving
credit facility in the amount of up to $20 million, including a
swingline of up to $3 million (the "New Revolving Facility"),
(ii) a non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of up to
$60 million (the "Term Facility"), and (iii) a limited revolving
acquisition and capital expenditure term loan facility in the
amount of up to $20 million to be available in multiple draws
(the "Acquisition Facility"). Subject to satisfaction of certain
conditions, the New Revolving Facility may be increased by an
additional $5 million and the acquisition and capital
expenditure term loan facility may be increased by up to an
additional $20 million. All borrowings under the Senior
Facilities mature five years after the date of the agreement.
Interest rates under the Senior Facilities vary based on the
Company’s total funded debt to EBITDA ratio within a range
between 0.50% to 3.25% over the Canadian prime rate for
prime rate loans and 2.00% to 4.75% over CDOR for Bankers’
Acceptances and a range of 0.40% to 1.00% for standby fees
for amounts not borrowed.
Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis

The Subordinated Facility consists of a term loan to be fully
drawn in one advance for a total of $13.5 million, which
accrues interest at a rate of 9% per annum. The Subordinated
Facility matures five and a half years after the date of the
agreement. On June 23, 2017, the Company prepaid
$2 million of principal balance along with a $20 thousand
cash consent fee in accordance with the Subordinated Facility
agreement.
In addition, the Company may prepay other portions of the
Subordinated Facility after 18 months from close without any
premium or penalty, subject to certain conditions.
The New Credit Facilities are expected to result in a
significant reduction in annual finance charges, with the
Company's weighted average interest rate decreasing from a
previous rate of 6.7% per annum to a current rate of
approximately 6.2%.

Liquidity Risk and Capital Management
The Company manages its capital structure based on the
funds available to the Company in order to support the
continuation and expansion of its operations, which primarily
operates in an environment in which government regulations
and funding play a key role. The Board establishes a
quantitative return on capital criteria, which it reviews with
management on a regular basis. The Company defines capital
to include share capital, warrants and the stock option
component of its shareholders' equity as well as its
borrowings and contingent consideration. In addition to the
cash flow generated by operations, the Company relies on
debt and equity financing from both arm's length and related
parties to execute on its stated business strategy. In order to
maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may
seek financing through the issuance of securities such as
equity, convertible or subordinated debt, or by replacing
existing debt with debt on terms more consistent with the
Company's needs.
On November 10, 2017, the Company amended its
agreements for the New Credit Facilities to increase the
threshold on its debt to trailing twelve month EBITDA
covenants in order to mitigate potential future breaches of
the financial covenants in the first half of 2018. On March 20,
2018, the Company further amended its agreements for the
New Credit Facilities to increase the threshold on its debt to
trailing twelve month EBITDA covenant and decrease the
threshold on its fixed-charge coverage ratio covenant. The
March 20, 2018 amendment relates to the fourth quarter of
2017 and the first three quarters of 2018 due to noncompliance as of December 31, 2017 and to mitigate
potential future breaches of covenants in 2018 as a result of
timing differences in the transition between contracts and
the delayed on-boarding of beds from issues with a thirdparty supplier. Although the Company received an
amendment subsequent to December 31, 2017, as required
20

under IFRS, the Company presented its total borrowings
amount of $81.1 million as of December 31, 2017 as a
current liability. The Company was in compliance with its
amended financial performance covenants as at December
31, 2017 and March 31, 2018, and, as such, has presented its
borrowings to show both the current and non-current
balances.
Based on its 2018 operating budget, business re-engineering
plan and cash flow management initiatives, the Company
believes it will be in compliance with the amended financial
performance covenants at each quarterly measurement date
through to the end of 2018. The Company also anticipates
that based on meeting the 2018 operating budget, along with
the impact of its business re-engineering plan, it will generate
sufficient cash flow from operations in 2018 to meet its
obligations as they come due.
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There can be no assurance that the Company will be
successful in achieving the results as set out in its operating
plan for each of the quarters in 2018. Initiatives are underway
to offset the impact of regulatory changes, focused on reengineering the businesses to achieve operational efficiencies
through work flow improvements, enhanced labour models,
expanding service and product offerings, identifying other
revenue generating opportunities and utilization of
technology for automating processes. In the event these
initiatives, combined with continued organic growth and
management of working capital, do not generate sufficient
cash flow from operations to meet its obligations as they
come due, the Company may need to generate funds from
other sources of financing. These circumstances may cast
significant doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, and the ultimate appropriateness of the use
of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.
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Cash Flow
Cash flow activities for the three month period ended March 31, 2018 were as follows:
Cash provided by/used in operating activities
Cash used in operating activities was $0.3 million compared to cash provided by operating activities of $1.1 million in the
same period in the prior year:
- Cash used in operations in the current year related to the timing of payments to suppliers.
- The Company has historically generated positive cash flows and anticipates that the cash flow from operations will continue
to be positive going forward.
Cash provided by/used in investing activities
Cash used in investing activities was $2.1 million compared to $2.2 million in the prior year:
- Cash used in investing activities in the period ended March 31, 2018 included $0.7 million for the purchase of property and
equipment and intangible assets and $1.4 million paid related to prior year acquisitions and the additional investment in
AceAge.
- Cash used in investing activities for the same period in the prior year relates primarily to purchases of property and
equipment and intangible assets.
Cash provided by/used in financing activities
Cash provided by financing activities was $2.4 million compared to $1.1 million in the prior year:
- Cash provided by financing activities in the period ended March 31, 2018 is reflective of an increased withdrawal from the
Company's New Revolving Facility.
- Cash provided by financing activities for the same period in the prior year was primarily due to the withdrawal from the
Company's Revolving Facility as well as the timing of interest payments.

Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis
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Contractual Commitments
The Company's contractual commitments at March 31, 2018, are as follows:

Trade payables and other amounts
Term Facility
Subordinated Facility
New Revolving Facility
Finance leases
Interest payments on borrowings
Operating leases
Contingent consideration

Total
$
19.8
60.0
11.5
16.1
0.3
20.4
10.3
4.8
143.2

The Company incurs interest on its New Credit Facilities.
Future interest to be paid on the New Revolving Facility
cannot be reasonably determined due to the ongoing
fluctuation of the New Revolving Facility balance. Interest
rates under the Senior Facilities vary based on the Company’s
total funded debt to EBITDA ratio with a range between
0.50% to 3.25% over the Canadian prime rate for prime rate
loans and 2.00% to 4.75% over CDOR for Bankers’
Acceptances and a range of 0.40% to 1.00% for standby fees
for amounts not borrowed.
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2018
$
19.8
4.9
—

2019-2020
$
—
11.0
—

—

—

0.2
4.3
2.3
1.2
32.7

0.1
10.7
4.6
2.8
29.2

2021-2022
$
—
44.1
11.5
16.1
—
5.4
3.1
0.8
81.0

Thereafter

$
—
—
—
—
—
—
0.3
—
0.3

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into
significant commitments for the purchase of goods and
services, such as the purchase of inventory, most of which are
short-term in nature and are settled under normal trade
terms.
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Equity
As at March 31, 2018, the Company had total shares outstanding of 208,139,402. The outstanding shares include 5,054,232
shares which are restricted or held in escrow and will be released to certain vendors of acquired businesses based on the
achievement of certain performance targets and certain customers. In the event that performance targets are not met,
escrowed shares are subject to reduction and cancellation based on formulas specific to each transaction. Escrowed and
restricted shares are not reflected in the shares reported on the Company's financial statements. Accordingly, for financial
reporting purposes, the Company reported 203,085,170 common shares outstanding as at March 31, 2018 and 201,468,731
shares outstanding at December 31, 2017.
For the period ended
Common shares
Balance, beginning of period
Issuance of common shares
Issuance of common shares for extinguishment of debt
Common shares released from escrow or issued from treasury
for contingent consideration
Stock options, warrants and restricted share units exercised
Deferred consideration for acquisitions
Balance, end of period

March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

201,468,731
—
—

169,982,529
1,208,036
28,331,093

60,605
1,155,834
400,000
203,085,170

—
1,947,073
—
201,468,731

Issuance of Deferred Stock-based Compensation
As at March 31, 2018, there were a total of 6,313,246 restricted share units outstanding to grant an equivalent number of common
shares.
For the period ended
Restricted share units
Balance, beginning of period
Restricted share units granted
Restricted share units released
Restricted share units forfeited
Balance, end of period

March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

3,224,080
3,320,000
(155,834)
(75,000)
6,313,246

4,738,984
952,000
(1,563,573)
(903,331)
3,224,080

Issuance of Warrants
As at March 31, 2018, there were 1,972,000 warrants outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $0.98.
For the period ended
Share purchase warrants
Balance, beginning of period
Warrants granted
Warrants exercised
Warrants expired
Balance, end of period
Exercisable, end of period
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March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

2,972,000
—
(1,000,000)
—
1,972,000
1,900,000

1,096,000
1,972,000
(96,000)
—
2,972,000
2,900,000
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Issuance of Stock Options
As at March 31, 2018, there were a total of 2,197,500 options outstanding to purchase an equivalent number of common
shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $0.39, expiring at various dates through 2020. The number of exercisable
options at March 31, 2018, was 938,750 with a weighted average exercise price of $0.40.
For the period ended
Common share options
Balance, beginning of period
Options granted
Options exercised
Options expired
Options canceled/forfeited
Balance, end of period
Exercisable, end of period

March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

2,347,500
—
—
—
(150,000)
2,197,500
938,750

3,345,000
—
(287,500)
(370,000)
(340,000)
2,347,500
692,500

Should all outstanding options and warrants that were exercisable at March 31, 2018 be exercised, the Company would
receive proceeds of $2.3 million.
As at the date of this report, May 8, 2018, the number of shares outstanding, including escrowed shares, is 208,139,402; the
number of options outstanding is 2,197,500; the number of restricted share units outstanding is 6,313,246; and the number of
warrants outstanding is 1,972,000. Included in the shares outstanding are 5,054,232 restricted shares, shares held in escrow,
or in trust, and are not freely tradeable.
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Transactions with Related Parties
Global Healthcare Investments and Solutions, Inc. ("GHIS")
and entities controlled by and related to the shareholders of
GHIS including Jamon Investments LLC ("Jamon"), who own
84,533,547 common shares or approximately 41% of the
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company as at
March 31, 2018. This ownership percentage disclosed
assumes the issuance of 5,054,232 escrowed and restricted
shares in the total common shares considered to be
outstanding.

Related Party Transactions
In the normal course of operations, the Company may enter
into certain related party transactions, which may include
transactions entered into with Company directors and
management. All related party transactions would be for
consideration established with the related parties, generally
on market terms, and approved by the independent nonexecutive directors of the Company, including the
transactions described below.

Related Party Loans
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company launched a Key
Employee Engagement Share Plan ("KEESP") to enable
eligible employees to acquire common shares of the
Company. The KEESP allows employees to contribute
towards the purchase of common shares of the Company
whereby the Company will match employee contributions by
up to three times with payments capped at a predetermined
level. The portion of funds matched by the Company is
repayable by the employees as a promissory note bearing
interest at 3% in equal annual installments over five years. A
receivable from employees of $60 thousand (December 31,
2017 - $60 thousand) has been included in trade and other
receivables. The Company terminated the KEESP on March
21, 2018.

One of the Board members, who is also a director and
committee member of some of the underlying businesses, is
assisting management on an interim basis. Included in the
results for the three month period ended March 31, 2018 are
$45 thousand (2017 - $30 thousand) of consulting fees
related to this arrangement. Included in trade payables and
other amounts at March 31, 2018 is $15 thousand (2017 $15 thousand) due to the Board member for consulting fees.
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Summary of Quarterly Results
Q1 2018
$

Q4 2017
$

Q3 2017
$

Q2 2017
$

44,472
3,825

42,328
4,058

40,250
4,084

42,826
4,915

$0.02
(1,699)

$0.02
3,702

$0.02
248

$0.02
(600)

$(0.01)
3,825

$0.02
4,058

$—
4,084

$—
4,915

$0.02
(1,699)

$0.02
3,301

$0.02
248

$0.02
2,600

$(0.01)

$0.02

$—

$0.01

Q1 2017
$

Q4 2016 5
$

Q3 2016 5
$

Q2 2016 5
$

43,563
4,456

41,827
4,373

41,917
4,191

42,925
4,146

$0.02
(3,870)

$0.03
(1,423)

$0.03
3,428

$0.03
(11,405)

($0.02)
4,456

$(0.01)
4,363

$0.02
4,198

$(0.07)
4,082

$0.02
(3,870)

$0.03
(1,746)

$0.03
3,409

$0.03
(11,447)

$(0.02)

$(0.01)

$0.02

$(0.07)

(thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Revenue
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations
Adjusted EBITDA per share from continuing
operations:
Basic and diluted
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic and diluted
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA per share:
Basic and diluted
Net income (loss)
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted

Revenue
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations
Adjusted EBITDA per share from continuing
operations:
Basic and diluted
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic and diluted
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA per share
Basic and diluted
Net income (loss)
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted

9
0

()
1

8

()

#D
IV/

5

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations includes a restatement of previously reported amounts in order to reflect the impact of discontinued operations
for businesses that were divested in 2015 and 2016.
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Up to the second quarter of 2017, the Company had achieved
steady growth in Consolidated Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA
across its core operations, despite the impact of the ODB
decreases and contract transitions, driven by both accretive
acquisitions and organic growth. This was followed by a
decline in the third quarter of 2017 in Consolidated Revenue
and Adjusted EBITDA as a result of the timing of transitions of
certain Specialty Pharmacy contracts, coupled with excess
labour costs arising from the off-boarding and on-boarding
process that could not be eliminated in the short-term and
other labour inefficiencies. In the first quarter of 2018, the
Company's Consolidated Revenue increased compared to the
prior quarter while Adjusted EBITDA declined due to
increased labour costs quarter-over-quarter as a result of
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Canadian Pension Plan and Employment Insurance payments
of approximately $260 thousand that were not required in
the prior quarter.
The impact of the provincial government funding changes
and the reduction to the pricing of certain generic
pharmaceuticals is expected to be continue to impact
Consolidated Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA in future periods.
The impact of these reductions is expected to be offset by
cost savings achieved through the business re-engineering
plan.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting
Disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by the
Company is accumulated and communicated to the
Company's management as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
(collectively the “Certifying Officers”) are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial
reporting (“ICFR”), as those terms are defined in National
Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's
Annual and Interim Filings, for the Company.
The Certifying Officers have concluded that, as at March 31,
2018, the Company's DC&P has been designed effectively to
provide reasonable assurance that (a) material information
relating to the Company is made known to them by others,
particularly during the period in which the annual filings are
being prepared; and (b) information required to be disclosed
by the Company in its annual filings, interim filings or other
reports filed or submitted, recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the
securities legislation.
There have been no significant changes to the Company's
ICFR over the three month period ended March 31, 2018,
which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect the Company's ICFR. Based on their
evaluation of these controls for the three month period
ended March 31, 2018, the CEO and CFO have also concluded
that the Company's ICFR have been designed effectively to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements for
external purposes and that ICFR were effective as at
March 31, 2018. The Company used the COSO control
framework to evaluate DC&P and ICFR.
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It should be noted that while the Company's Certifying
Officers believe that the Company's DC&P provides a
reasonable level of assurance that they are effective, they do
not expect that the disclosure controls will prevent all errors
and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived
or operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
ICFR is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
the financial statements for external reporting purposes in
line with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal controls over financial reporting
appropriate to the nature and size of the Company. However,
any system of internal control over financial reporting has
inherent limitations and can only provide reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation
and presentation.
In conjunction with the conversion to the new IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, the Company has determined that the
adoption of these new accounting standards did not have a
significant impact on its control environment.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Critical Accounting Policies
The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and
its interpretations as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB") that are effective for the year
ended December 31, 2018.

required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in
fair value in OCI not recycling. There is now a new expected
credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss
impairment model used in IAS 39.

With the exception of the new standards adopted by the
Company described below, our significant accounting policies
are disclosed in note 1 of the last annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017.

For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification
and measurement except for the recognition of changes in
own credit risk in other comprehensive income for liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes
the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the
bright line hedge effectiveness tests.

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted
by the Company
The Company has initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
beginning January 1, 2018. A number of other amendments
are also effective from January 1, 2018 but they do not have
a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 provides a comprehensive five-step revenue
recognition model for all contracts with customers in
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognized. The standard replaces all previous revenue
recognition standards, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

There has not been any significant impact from the adoption
of IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at
January 1, 2018 or on net income for the three month period
ended March 31, 2018.
Refer to note 1 of the unaudited condensed interim
consolidated financial statements for the three month period
ended March 31, 2018 for further details regarding the
Company's adoption of these new accounting standards.
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet
adopted

The adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in a change in the timing of
recognition of revenue from Family Practice memberships
and Executive Health Assessment bundle contracts.

IFRS 16 Leases introduces a single on-balance sheet
recognition and measurement model for lessees, eliminating
the distinction between operating and finance leases for
leases with terms of more than twelve months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Lessor accounting for leases
as finance and operating leases will remain substantially
unchanged. The IASB issued the standard in 2016, replacing
IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. IFRS 16 becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2019, and is to be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is
permitted if IFRS 15 has been adopted. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of the new standard on its
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

IFRS 9 Financial instruments addresses the classification,
measurement and recognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued
in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement that relates to
the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model
and establishes three primary measurement categories for
financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit and loss.
The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are

The preparation of financial statements requires the
Company to estimate the effect of various matters that are
inherently uncertain as of the date of the financial
statements. Each of these required estimates varies in regard
to the level of judgment involved and its potential impact on
the Company's reported financial results. Estimates are
deemed critical when a different estimate could have
reasonably been used or where changes in the estimate are
reasonably likely to occur from period to period, and would
materially impact the Company's financial condition, changes
in financial condition or results of operations.

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method, without prior period comparatives
restated, with the effect of initially applying this standard
recognized at the date of initial application (i.e. January 1,
2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has
not been restated - it is presented, as previously reported,
under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related interpretations.
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Significant critical accounting estimates include the
collectability of receivables, assessment of impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets, the recognition of contingent
consideration, the valuation of deferred tax assets and tax
provisions and the accounting for business combinations.

the warrants is based on the Company's share price at the
date of closing. As a result of this variability, the fair value of
the contingent consideration is recorded as a financial liability
irrespective of the fact that this liability will be settled on a
non-cash basis through the issuance of shares and warrants.

Collectability of Receivables

Subsequent changes in fair value between reporting periods
are included in the determination of net income. Changes in
fair value arise as a result of changes in the Company's share
price and changes in the estimated probability of achieving
the earnings targets. Shares issued or released from escrow
in final settlement of contingent consideration are recognized
at their fair value at the time of issue with a corresponding
reduction in the contingent consideration liability.

The Company assesses the collectability of receivables on an
ongoing basis. A provision for the impairment of receivables
involves management judgment and includes the review of
individual receivables based on individual customer
creditworthiness, current economic trends, forward-looking
information and analysis of historical bad debts.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets Valuation
The Company performs an impairment assessment of
goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets on an annual
basis and at any other time if events or circumstances make it
possible that impairment may have occurred. The Company
also considers whether there are any triggers for impairment
at each quarter end. Determining whether impairment of
goodwill has occurred requires a valuation of the respective
business unit, based on its fair value, which is based on a
number of factors, including discounted cash flows, future
business plans, economic projections and market data.
An indefinite-life intangible asset is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The
impairment test consists of a comparison of the fair value of
the indefinite-life intangible asset with its carrying amount.
When the carrying amount of the indefinite-life intangible
asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss should be
recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
The Company tests the valuation of goodwill and indefinite
life intangibles as at June 30 of each year to determine
whether or not any impairment in the goodwill and
intangible balances recorded exists. In addition, on a
quarterly basis, management assesses the reasonableness of
assumptions used for the valuation to determine if further
impairment testing is required.

Valuation of Deferred Tax Assets
In its valuation of deferred tax assets, the Company considers
the extent to which it is probable that the deferred tax asset
will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
profits during the period in which those temporary losses and
tax loss carryforwards become deductible. The Company
considers the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and
projected future taxable income in making this assessment.
The Company expects that future operations will generate
sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets
except for an unrecognized deferred tax asset of $7.0 million
which the Company has not recorded at March 31, 2018.
Business Combinations
Upon the completion of business acquisitions, management's
judgment is required to estimate the purchase price, and to
identify and fair value all assets and liabilities acquired. The
determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired is based on management’s estimates and certain
assumptions generally included in a present value calculation
of the related cash flows.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As at March 31, 2018, the Company has no off-balance sheet
arrangements.

Recognition of Contingent Consideration
The Company recognizes the fair value of contingent
consideration relating to its business acquisitions at the date
the transaction closes and at each subsequent reporting
date. The purchase price of most acquisitions is subject to
the financial performance of the businesses being acquired.
The number of shares, either issued in escrow and
subsequently released to the vendor, or to be issued at a
later date varies based on the acquired business achieving
predetermined earnings targets over a specified period.
In addition, warrants are issued when these performance
targets are exceeded generally based on an accrual of
warrants to the extent of such excess. The exercise price of
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Risks and Uncertainties
The business of Centric Health is subject to a number of risks
and uncertainties. Prior to making any investment decision
regarding the Company, investors should carefully consider,
among other things the risks described herein (including the
section on caution regarding forward looking statements).

Government Regulation and Funding
General Healthcare Regulation
Healthcare service providers in Canada are subject to various
governmental regulation and licensing requirements and, as a
result, the Company's businesses operate in an environment
in which government regulations and funding play a key role.
The level of government funding directly reflects government
policy related to healthcare spending, and decisions can be
made regarding such funding that are largely beyond the
businesses' control. Any change in governmental regulation,
delisting of services, and licensing requirements relating to
healthcare services, or their interpretation and application,
could adversely affect the business, financial condition and
results of operations of these business units. In addition, the
Company could incur significant costs in the course of
complying with any changes in the regulatory regime. Noncompliance with any existing or proposed laws or regulations
could result in audits, civil or regulatory proceedings, fines,
penalties, injunctions, recalls or seizures, any of which could
adversely affect the reputation, operations or financial
performance of the Company.
Pharmacy Industry Regulation
One of the Company’s main business lines is the provision of
traditional and specialty pharmacy services. Following the
acquisitions of Pharmacare, CareRx, Pharmacy West,
Medicine Hat and Grande Prairie, the Company is reliant on
prescription drug sales for a significant portion of its sales
and profits. Prescription drugs and their sales are subject to
numerous federal, provincial, territorial and local laws and
regulations. Changes to these laws and regulations, or noncompliance with these laws and regulations, could adversely
affect the reputation, operations or financial performance of
the Company.
Federal and provincial laws and regulations that establish
public drug plans typically regulate prescription drug
coverage, patient eligibility, pharmacy reimbursement, drug
product eligibility and drug pricing and may also regulate
manufacturer allowance funding that is provided to or
received by pharmacy or pharmacy suppliers. With respect to
pharmacy reimbursement, such laws and regulations typically
regulate the allowable drug cost of a prescription drug
product, the permitted mark-up on a prescription drug
product, the professional or dispensing fees that may be
charged on prescription drug sales to patients eligible under
Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis

the public drug plan and the frequency in which such
professional or dispensing fees may be charged. With respect
to drug product eligibility, such laws and regulations typically
regulate the requirements for listing the manufacturer’s
products as a benefit or partial benefit under the applicable
governmental drug plan, drug pricing and, in the case of
generic prescription drug products, the requirements for
designating the product as interchangeable with a branded
prescription drug product. In addition, other federal,
provincial, territorial and local laws and regulations govern
the approval, packaging, labeling, sale, marketing,
advertising, handling, storage, distribution, dispensing and
disposal of prescription drugs.
Sales of prescription drugs, pharmacy reimbursement and
drug prices may be affected by changes to the health care
industry, including legislative or other changes that impact
patient eligibility, drug product eligibility, the allowable cost
of a prescription drug product, the mark-up permitted on a
prescription drug product, the amount of professional or
dispensing fees paid by third-party payers or the provision or
receipt of manufacturer allowances by pharmacy and
pharmacy suppliers.
The majority of prescription drug sales are reimbursed or
paid by third-party payers, such as governments, insurers or
employers. These third-party payers have pursued and
continue to pursue measures to manage the costs of their
drug plans. Each provincial jurisdiction has implemented
legislative and/or other measures directed towards managing
pharmacy service costs and controlling increasing drug costs
incurred by public drug plans and private payers which
impact pharmacy reimbursement levels and the availability of
manufacturer allowances. Legislative measures to control
drug costs include lowering of generic drug pricing, restricting
or prohibiting the provision of manufacturer allowances and
placing limitations on private label prescription drug
products.
On September 1, 2017, the Ontario Ministry of Health and
Long-Term Care announced certain changes to the
regulations made under the Ontario Drug Benefit Act to
temporarily adjust the amount paid to pharmacies for
supplying a listed drug product under the ODB program. The
amount deducted is 2.8% of the sum of the dispensing fee,
mark-up and compounding fee for certain drug claims. This
temporary adjustment was made effective as of September 1,
2017 and will end on the earlier of February 28, 2019 and the
day the total payment adjustment reaches $35 million.
In addition, on January 29, 2018, the pCPA, which represents
participating federal, provincial, and territorial public drug
plans, announced that it reached a new 5-year agreement
with the CGPA with respect to the pricing of generic drugs in
Canada. According to the pCPA announcement, as of April 1,
2018, the prices of nearly 70 of the most commonly
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prescribed drugs in Canada will be reduced by 25% - 40%,
resulting in overall discounts of up to 90% off the price of
their brand-name equivalents. These drugs include those
used to treat high blood pressure, high cholesterol, and
depression, and are collectively used by millions of
Canadians.
Furthermore, on February 28, 2018, Alberta Health
announced a new funding framework that was entered into
with the Alberta Pharmacists’ Association to take effect May
17, 2018. Amongst other things, the announcement stated
that dispensing fees in the Province will drop from $12.30 to
$12.15 and a limit on the number of frequent dispensing fees
will be introduced (daily dispensing fees will be limited to
three per day per patient and monthly dispensing fees will be
limited to two per drug per 28 days).
While the Company is taking action to mitigate the effects of
these changes, these, as well as other ongoing changes
impacting pharmacy reimbursement programs, prescription
drug pricing and manufacturer allowance funding, legislative
or otherwise, are expected to continue to put downward
pressure on prescription drug sales and payments relating
thereto. These changes may have a material adverse impact
on the Company’s business, sales and profitability.
Private Surgery Regulation
There are currently initiatives intended to compel
enforcement by the Medicare Services Commission of the
Government of British Columbia (the “Commission”) of
certain provisions of the Medicare Protection Act (British
Columbia) (“Act”) against private clinics operating in the
province with the use of doctors enrolled in the Medicare
Services Plan of British Columbia (the “Plan”). The Plan
insures medically-necessary services for residents of British
Columbia. Under the Act, enrolled doctors are prohibited
from providing services in both the public and private
systems. The Company’s subsidiary, False Creek Health Care
Centre LP (“False Creek”), operates a private clinic in British
Columbia that uses the services of independent doctors that
are enrolled under the Plan. A constitutional challenge has
been brought by another private clinic in British Columbia
challenging certain provisions of the Act, including the
prohibition of enrolled doctors from providing services in
both the public and private systems. The goal of the
challenge is to have the Commission remove the restrictions
that prevent British Columbia residents from obtaining
timely, and potentially life-saving, medical care. The matter
was set to go to trial in September 2014 and, following
subsequent adjournments, commenced in September 2016.
To date, a number of procedural and evidentiary matters
have been heard, and following an adjournment, the trial
resumed in April 2018.
In addition, the British Columbia Government recently
announced that it is bringing into force certain changes to the
Act effective October 1, 2018 that were adopted in 2003 but
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never activated following widespread opposition from
doctors at the time. The proposed changes would provide for
fines of up to $20 thousand to doctors who bill patients for
expedited care for “medically necessary” services at rates
higher than those prescribed by the Medical Services Plan
and potentially de-enroll offending doctors from the public
system. The Company intends to seek a legal injunction that
would suspend the proposed new laws from being applied to
it while the constitutional case is being decided.
If the constitutional challenge is successful then this should
dispose of initiatives intended to compel enforcement by the
Commission of certain provisions of the Act. If the
constitutional challenge is unsuccessful and the Commission
commences initiatives aimed at enforcement of the Act, it
could have a direct impact on a portion of the surgical
procedures at False Creek Healthcare Centre. Enforcement
measures of the Commission could include compelling of
facility audits, injunctions and/or penalties or other
compensatory measures. There can be no assurance at this
time as to the outcome of the constitutional challenge or any
initiatives of the Commission as against enrolled doctors or
private clinics in British Columbia. The Company is actively
monitoring the developments in the constitutional challenge,
as well as conducting its own investigations into the
applicability of, and measures under, the Act.

Uncertainty of Liquidity and Capital Requirements
The future capital requirements of the Company will depend
on many factors, including the number and size of
acquisitions consummated, rate of growth of its client base,
the costs of expanding into new markets, the growth of the
market for healthcare services and the costs of
administration. In order to meet such capital requirements,
the Company may consider additional public or private
financing (including the incurrence of debt and the issuance
of additional common shares) to fund all or a part of a
particular venture, which could entail dilution of current
investors' interest in the Company. There can be no assurance
that additional funding will be available or, if available, that it
will be available on acceptable terms. If adequate funds are
not available, the Company may have to reduce substantially
or otherwise eliminate certain expenditures. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional
capital if its capital resources are depleted or exhausted.
Further, due to regulatory impediments and lack of investor
appetite, the ability of the Company to issue additional
common shares or other securities exchangeable for or
convertible into common shares to finance acquisitions may
be restricted.
The Company currently has a New Credit Facility, pursuant to
which it is subject to a number of customary affirmative and
negative financial covenants. In addition, the New Credit
Facility is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s
assets. In the event of a default, including, among other
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things, a failure to make any payment when due or nonobservance any term of the agreement, all of the Company’s
obligations may immediately become due and payable, and
the lenders would also be entitled to realize on their security
and liquidate the assets of the Company. The Company is in
compliance with its amended covenants as at the period
ended March 31, 2018 and is forecasting to be in compliance
with its amended covenants for the remainder of 2018.

Reliance on Contracts with Key Customers
Revenues attributable to the Company’s businesses are
dependent upon certain significant customers. There can be
no assurance that the Company’s contracts with its key
customers will be renewed or that the Company’s services
will continue to be utilized by those key customers. There
could be material adverse effects on the businesses of the
Company if a key customer does not renew its contracts with
the Company, or elects to terminate its contracts with the
Company in favour of another service provider. Further, there
is no assurance that any new agreement or renewal entered
into by the Company with its customers will have terms
similar to those contained in current arrangements, and the
failure to obtain those terms could have an adverse effect on
the Company’s businesses.

Supply Chain
The Company sources the majority of its pharmaceutical
products from a single supplier. Therefore, the Company’s
distribution operations and supply chain are exposed to
potential disruptions which could affect the cost and timely
delivery of pharmaceutical products. While the Company has
made provision for any disruption of service, any disruption,
even if temporary, could negatively affect the Company’s
sales and financial performance.

Litigation & Insurance Cover
From time to time the Company is involved in litigation,
investigations or proceedings related to claims arising out of
its operations in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of the Company, these claims and lawsuits in the
aggregate, when settled are not expected to have a material
impact on the Company's financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. However, to the extent that
management’s assessment of the Company’s exposure in
respect of such matters is either incorrect or changes as a
result of any determinations made by judges or other finders
of fact, the Company’s exposure could exceed current
expectations, which could have a material adverse effect on
its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
The Company makes acquisitions of various sizes that may
involve consideration to vendors in the form of cash and
securities of the Company, as well as adjustment or
contingent consideration that may take the form of price
protection, earn-outs or performance rewards over a period
of time. Contestation through litigation by vendors at a future
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date of actual, or applicable, entitlements under the
negotiated agreements can happen, and may result in
liabilities and contingencies to the Company or strained
working relationships with vendors turned key employees in
connection with the acquisition. The Company also
completes divestitures of various sizes and the Company may
from time-to-time be a party to a dispute relating to the
transaction, which could result in liabilities and/or
contingencies to the Company.
In recent years, liability insurance coverage has become
considerably more expensive and the availability of coverage
has been reduced in certain cases. There is no assurance that
the existing coverage will continue to be sufficient or that, in
the future, policies will be available at adequate levels of
insurance or at acceptable costs. The Company maintains
professional malpractice liability insurance, directors' and
officers' and general liability insurance in amounts it believes
are sufficient to cover potential claims arising out of its
operations. Some claims, however, could exceed the scope of
its coverage or the coverage of particular claims could be
denied.
Due to the nature of the services provided by the Company,
general liability and error and omissions claims may be
asserted against the Company with respect to disability
management services and malpractice claims may be
asserted against Centric Health, or any of its subsidiaries,
with respect to healthcare services. Although the Company
carries insurance in amounts that management believes to be
standard in Canada for the operation of healthcare facilities,
there can be no assurance that the Company will have
coverage of sufficient scope to satisfy any particular liability
claim. The Company believes that it will be able to obtain
adequate insurance coverage in the future at acceptable
costs, but there can be no assurance that it will be able to do
so or that it will not incur significant liabilities in excess of
policy limits. Any such claims that exceed the scope of
coverage or applicable policy limits, or an inability to obtain
adequate coverage, could have a material adverse effect on
the Company's business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Competition
The markets for Centric Health's products and services are
intensely competitive, subject to rapid change and
significantly affected by market activities of other industry
participants. Other than relationships the Company has built
up with insurance companies, healthcare providers,
retirement homes and long term care homes and patients,
there is little to prevent the entrance of those wishing to
provide similar services to those provided by Centric Health
and its subsidiaries. Competitors with greater capital and/or
experience may enter the market or compete for referrals
from insurance companies and the services of available
healthcare professionals. There can be no assurance that
Centric Health will be able to compete effectively for these
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referrals and healthcare professionals, that additional
competitors will not enter the market, that such competition
will not make it more difficult or expensive to provide
disability management services or that competitive pressures
in the provision of these services in a geographic region will
not otherwise adversely affect Centric Health.

Acquisitions and Integration
The Company has and continues to expect to make
acquisitions of various sizes that fit particular niches within
Centric Health's overall corporate strategy. There is no
assurance that it will be able to acquire businesses on
satisfactory terms or at all. These acquisitions will involve the
commitment of capital and other resources, and these
acquisitions could have a major financial impact in the year of
acquisition and beyond. The speed and effectiveness with
which Centric Health integrates these acquired companies
into its existing businesses may have a significant short-term
impact on Centric Health's ability to achieve its growth and
profitability targets.
The successful integration and management of acquired
businesses involves numerous risks that could adversely
affect Centric Health's growth and profitability, including that:
(a) Management may not be able to manage successfully
the acquired operations and the integration may place
significant demands on management, thereby diverting
its attention from existing operations;
(b) Operational, financial and management systems may be
incompatible with or inadequate to integrate into
Centric Health's systems and management may not be
able to utilize acquired systems effectively;
(c) Acquisitions may require substantial financial resources
that could otherwise be used in the development of
other aspects of the business;
(d) Acquisitions may result in liabilities and contingencies
which could be significant to the Company's operations;
and
(e) Personnel from Centric Health's acquisitions and its
existing businesses may not be integrated as efficiently
or at the rate foreseen.
The acquisition of healthcare-related companies or assets
involves a long cost recovery cycle. The sales processes for
the products that these companies offer are often subject to
lengthy customer approval processes. Failures by the
Company in achieving signed contracts after the investment
of significant time and effort in the sales process could have
an adverse impact on the Company`s operating results.

Referrals

obligation or economic incentive to refer patients to the
surgical centres. Should surgical practitioners discontinue
referring patients or performing operations at the surgical
centres, the business, financial condition and results of
operations of Centric Health could be adversely affected.

Shortage of Healthcare Professionals
As the Company expands its operations, it may encounter
difficulty in securing the necessary professional medical and
support staff to support its expanding operations. There is
currently a shortage of certain medical specialty physicians
and nurses in Canada and this may affect Centric Health's
ability to hire physicians, nurses and other healthcare
practitioners in adequate numbers to support its growth
plans, which may adversely affect the business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk to the extent that its
clients become unable to meet their payment obligations.
The Company's exposure to concentrations of credit risk is
limited. Accounts receivable are from the workers
compensation boards, government agencies, employers,
insurance companies and patients.

Information Technology Systems
Centric Health's businesses depend, in part, on the continued
and uninterrupted performance of its information technology
systems. Sustained system failures or interruptions could
disrupt the Company's ability to operate effectively, which in
turn could adversely affect its business, results of operations
and financial condition.
The Company's computer systems may be vulnerable to
damage from a variety of sources, including physical or
electronic break-ins, computer viruses and similar disruptive
problems. Despite precautions taken, unanticipated problems
affecting the information technology systems could cause
interruptions for which Centric Health's insurance policies
may not provide adequate compensation.

Exposure to Epidemic or Pandemic Outbreak
As Centric Health's businesses are focused on healthcare, its
employees and/or facilities could be affected by an epidemic
or pandemic outbreak, either within a facility or within the
communities in which Centric operates. The Company has
developed protocols and procedures should they be required
to deal with any potential outbreaks impacting its facilities.
Despite appropriate steps being taken to mitigate such risks,
there can be no assurance that existing policies and
procedures will ensure that Centric Health's operations
would not be adversely affected.

In the Surgical and Medical Centres segment, the patient
referrals are dependent on the surgical practitioners affiliated
therewith. Surgical practitioners have no contractual
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Confidentiality of Personal and Health Information
Centric Health and its subsidiaries' employees have access, in
the course of their duties, to personal information of clients
of the Company and specifically their medical histories. There
can be no assurance that the Company's existing policies,
procedures and systems will be sufficient to address the
privacy concerns of existing and future clients. If a client's
privacy is violated, or if Centric Health is found to have
violated any law or regulation, it could be liable for damages
or for criminal fines or penalties.

Key Personnel
The Company believes that its future success will depend
significantly upon its ability to attract, motivate and retain
highly skilled executive management. In addition, the success
of each business unit depends on employing or contracting,
as the case may be, qualified healthcare professionals.
Currently, there is a shortage of such qualified personnel in
Canada. The Company will compete with other potential
employers for employees and it may not be successful in
keeping the services of the executives and other employees,
including healthcare professionals that it requires. The loss of
highly skilled executives and healthcare professionals or the
inability to recruit these individuals in markets that the
Company operates in could adversely affect the Company's
ability to operate its business efficiently and profitably.

Accounting, Tax and Legal Rules and Laws
Any changes to accounting and/or tax standards and
pronouncements introduced by authorized bodies may
impact on the Company's financial performance. Additionally,
changes to any of the federal and provincial laws, regulations
or policies in jurisdictions where the Company operates could
materially affect the Company's operations and its financial
performance. The Company may also incur significant costs in
order to comply with any proposed changes. The Company's
failure to comply with laws, regulations or policies may
expose the Company to legal or regulatory proceedings which
could have a material impact on the Company's financial
performance.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting and
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company may face risks if there are deficiencies in its
internal control over financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. Internal controls over financial
reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of the financial statements for external reporting
purposes. Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal controls over financial
reporting appropriate to the nature and size of the Company.
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The Board, in conjunction with its Audit Committee, is
responsible for assessing the progress and sufficiency of
internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures and will make adjustments as
necessary. However, these initiatives may not be effective at
remedying any deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. Any
deficiencies, if uncorrected, could result in the Company's
financial statements being inaccurate and in future
adjustments or restatements of its financial statements,
which could adversely affect the price of the shares and
Centric Health's business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Capital Investment
The timing and amount of capital expenditures by the
Company will be dependent upon the Company's ability to
utilize credit facilities, raise new debt, generate cash from
operations, meet working capital requirements and sell
additional shares in order to accommodate these items.
There can be no assurance that sufficient capital will be
available on acceptable terms to the Company for necessary
or desirable capital expenditures or that the amount required
will be the same as currently estimated. Lack of these funds
could limit the future growth of the Company and its
subsidiaries and their respective cash flows.

Dilution
The Company's by-laws authorize the Company, in certain
circumstances, to issue an unlimited number of shares for the
consideration and on those terms and conditions as are
established by the Board without the approval of the
Shareholders, who have no pre-emptive rights in connection
with such issuances. Any further issuance of shares may
dilute the interests of existing shareholders.

Significant Shareholders
There are significant shareholders of the Company that may
be long-term holders of the common shares in the Company.
This has the effect of reducing the public float for the
common shares, which may, in turn, impact the liquidity for
the shares. In addition, relatively low liquidity may adversely
affect the price at which the common shares of the Company
trade on the listed market.

Ethical Business Conduct
A violation of law, the breach of Company policies or
unethical behaviour may impact the Company's reputation
which in turn could negatively affect the Company's financial
performance. The Company has established policies and
procedures, including a Code of Business Conduct, to support
a culture with high ethical standards.
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Volatile Market Price for Securities of the
Company
The market price for securities may be volatile and subject to
wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of
which are beyond the Company’s control, including:
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s
quarterly results of operations;
• changes in estimates of future results of operations by
the Company or securities research analysts;
• changes in the economic performance or market
valuations of other companies that investors deem
comparable to the Company;
• addition or departure of the Company’s executive
officers and other key personnel;
• release or other transfer restrictions on outstanding
securities;
• sales or perceived sales of additional securities;
• significant acquisitions or business combinations,
strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital
commitments by or involving the Company or its
competitors; and,
• news reports relating to trends, concerns or
competitive developments, regulatory changes and
other related issues in the Company’s industry or target
markets.
Financial markets have recently experienced significant price
and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the
market prices of securities of companies and that have, in
many cases, been unrelated to the operating performance,
underlying asset values or prospects of such companies.
Accordingly, the market price of the securities of the
Company may decline even if the operating results,
underlying asset values or prospects have not changed.
Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors,
may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be
other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses.
As well, certain institutional investors may base their
investment decisions on consideration of the Company’s
environmental, governance and social practices and
performance against such institutions’ respective investment
guidelines and criteria, and failure to meet such criteria may
result in a limited or no investment in the Company’s
securities by those institutions, which could adversely affect
the trading price of the Company’s securities. There can be
no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume
will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility continue,
the Company’s operations and the trading price of the
Company’s securities may be adversely affected.
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The Company Needs to Comply with Financial
Reporting and Other Requirements as a Public
Company
The Company is subject to reporting and other obligations
under applicable Canadian securities laws and TSX rules,
including National Instrument 52-109. These reporting and
other obligations place significant demands on the
Company’s management, administrative, operational and
accounting resources. Moreover, any failure to maintain
effective internal controls could cause the Company to fail to
meet its reporting obligations or result in material
misstatements in its consolidated financial statements. If the
Company cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent
fraud, its reputation and operating results could be materially
harmed, which could also cause investors to lose confidence
in the Company’s reported financial information, which could
result in a lower trading price of its securities.
Management does not expect that Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system,
no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives
will be met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems,
no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues within a company are detected. The
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also
be circumvented by individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by management override
of the controls. Due to the inherent limitations in a costeffective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.

Future Sales of the Company’s Securities by
Directors and Executive Officers
Subject to compliance with applicable securities laws,
directors and executive officers and their affiliates may sell
some or all of their securities in the Company in the future.
No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, such future
sales will have on the market price of the Company’s
securities prevailing from time to time. However, the future
sale of a substantial number of securities by the Company’s
directors and executive officers and their controlled entities,
or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely
affect prevailing market prices for the Company’s securities.
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Directors and Officers May Have Conflicts of
Interest
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also
serve as directors and/or officers of other companies and
consequently there exists the possibility for such directors
and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made
by any of such directors and officers involving the Company
are being made in accordance with their duties and
obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with a view to the
best interests of the Company.

Third Party Service Providers
The Company is reliant upon third-party service providers in
respect of certain of its operations. It is possible that
negative events affecting these third-party service providers,
or any negligence or failure to perform the services as
contemplated, could, in turn, negatively impact the Company.
In order to minimize operating risks, the Company actively
monitors and manages its relationships with its third-party
service providers.
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Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures
This MD&A includes certain measures which have not been
prepared in accordance with IFRS such as EBITDA, Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA per share. These non-IFRS
measures are not recognized under IFRS and, accordingly,
users are cautioned that these measures should not be
construed as alternatives to net income determined in
accordance with IFRS. The non-IFRS measures presented are
unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by
other issuers.

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA
Margin and Adjusted EBITDA Per Share
The Company defines EBITDA as earnings before
depreciation and amortization, interest expense,
amortization of lease incentives, and income tax expense
(recovery). Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA before
transaction and restructuring costs, change in fair value of
contingent consideration liability, impairments, change in fair

value of derivative financial instruments, gain on disposal of
property and equipment and stock based compensation
expense. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is defined as Adjusted
EBITDA divided by revenue. Adjusted EBITDA per share is
defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by the weighted
outstanding shares on both a basic and diluted basis. The
Company believes that Adjusted EBITDA is a meaningful
financial metric as it measures cash generated from
operations which the Company can use to fund working
capital requirements, service interest and principal debt
repayments and fund future growth initiatives. The
Company's agreements with senior lenders are structured
with certain financial performance covenants which includes
Adjusted EBITDA as a key component of the covenant
calculations. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not recognized
measures under IFRS.

For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018
$

2017
$

(1,699)
2,267
1,668
119
298
2,653

(3,870)
2,389
3,821
(65)
985
3,260

Transaction and restructuring costs
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability
Share-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Adjusted EBITDA

501
331
458
(118)
—
3,825

1,656
(958)
324
149
25
4,456

Weighted average number of shares - basic and diluted
Adjusted EBITDA per share - basic and diluted

202,110
$0.02

179,693
$0.02

(thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Loss from operations
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Amortization of lease incentives
Income tax expense
EBITDA from operations
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Adjusted EBITDA by Segment for the Three Month Periods Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017
For the three month period ended March 31, 2018

Net income (loss) from operations before interest
expense and income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of lease incentives
EBITDA from operations
Transaction and restructuring costs
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability
Share-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Adjusted EBITDA from operations

Specialty
Pharmacy
$

Surgical and
Medical
Centres
$

Corporate
$

Total
$

1,481
1,665
40
3,186
351
—
—
—
3,537

988
468
79
1,535
3
—
—
—
1,538

(2,202)
134
—
(2,068)
147
331
458
(118)
(1,250)

267
2,267
119
2,653
501
331
458
(118)
3,825

For three month period ended March 31, 2017
Specialty
Pharmacy
$

Surgical and
Medical
Centres
$

Corporate
$

Total
$

Net income (loss) from operations before interest
expense and income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of lease incentives
EBITDA from operations
Transaction and restructuring costs
Gain on disposal of PPE
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability
Share-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments

1,871
1,734
2
3,607
1,292
25
—
—
—

740
464
(45)
1,159
18
—
—
—
—

(1,675)
191
(22)
(1,506)
346
—
(958)
324
149

936
2,389
(65)
3,260
1,656
25
(958)
324
149

Adjusted EBITDA from operations

4,924

1,177

(1,645)

4,456

Proposed Transactions
There are no significant proposed transactions which have not been disclosed.

Centric Health Corporation 2018 First Quarter Management's Discussion and Analysis

40

Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements

For the three month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Dated: May 8, 2018

Index
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

2

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

3

Consolidated Statements of Equity

4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements:
1. Significant Accounting Policies

6

2. Capital Management, Liquidity Risk and Financing

11

3. Business Combinations

12

4. Contingent Consideration

12

5. Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Property and Equipment

14

6. Income Taxes

15

7. Trade Payables and Other Liabilities

15

8. Borrowings

16

9. Other Deferred Amounts

17

10. Shareholders' Equity and Earnings per Share

17

11. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

20

12. Related Party Transactions and Balances

23

13. General and Administrative Expenses

24

14. Transaction, Restructuring and Other Costs

24

15. Interest Expense

25

16. Segmented Information

25

17. Contingencies

26

18. Supplementary Disclosure to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

26

Centric Health Corporation March 31, 2018 and 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

1

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment (note 5)
Derivative financial instrument (note 11)
Investments (note 11)
Goodwill and intangible assets (note 5)
Deferred income tax assets (note 6)
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade payables and other amounts (note 7)
Current portion of borrowings (note 8)
Current portion of contingent consideration (note 4)
Current portion of finance lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (note 8)
Other deferred amounts (note 9)
Contingent consideration (note 4)
Deferred income tax liabilities (note 6)
Deferred lease incentives
Finance lease liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital (note 10)
Warrants
Contributed surplus
Deficit
Equity attributable to shareholders of Centric Health Corporation
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

March 31, 2018
$

December 31, 2017
$

16,723
6,721
1,411
24,855

16,395
7,411
1,044
24,850

15,997
398
1,750
97,798
3,480
144,278

16,392
280
1,000
98,928
3,061
144,511

19,790
6,000
1,917
179
27,886

22,726
81,071
2,082
226
106,105

78,673
13,918
2,891
1,012
708
114
125,202

—
14,352
2,557
640
589
136
124,379

129,787
653
29,076
(140,741)
18,775
301
19,076

128,886
805
29,003
(139,017)
19,677
455
20,132

144,278

144,511

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board
"Dr. Jack Shevel"
Dr. Jack Shevel, Director

"Yazdi Bharucha"
Yazdi Bharucha, Director
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018
$

2017
$

Revenue

44,472

43,563

Cost of healthcare services and supplies

29,276

27,701

General and administrative expenses (note 13)

14,215

14,079

Transaction, restructuring and other costs (note 14)

501

1,656

Income from operations

480

127

Interest expense (note 15)

1,668

3,821

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 11)

(118)

149

Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability (note 4)
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (note 6)
Net loss

331

(958)

(1,401)

(2,885)

298

985

(1,699)

(3,870)

(1,724)

(3,909)

25

39

($0.01)

($0.02)

202,110

179,693

Net Income (loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of Centric Health Corporation
Non-controlling interests
Basic and diluted earnings per common share attributable to shareholders of Centric
Health Corporation:
From earnings for the period
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in thousands) (note 10)
Basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Equity

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except number of common shares)

Balance at December 31, 2016

Share
capital
$

Warrants
$

Deficit
$

Noncontrolling
interest
$

Total
$

169,982,529

111,542

158

28,841

2,905

(140,863)

2,583

362

2,945

Issuance of shares

80,000

54

—

—

—

—

54

—

54

RSUs, warrants and options exercised

182,600

88

(3)

(33)

—

—

52

—

52

28,331,093

15,671

632

—

(2,905)

—

13,398

—

13,398

Deferred compensation expense

—

—

—

324

—

—

324

—

324

Payment of non-controlling interests

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(71)

(71)

Conversion of debt

Net income (loss) for the period

—

—

—

—

—

(3,909)

(3,909)

39

(3,870)

Balance at March 31, 2017

198,576,222

127,355

787

29,132

—

(144,772)

12,502

330

12,832

Balance at December 31, 2017

201,468,731

128,886

805

29,003

—

(139,017)

19,677

455

20,132

1,155,834

652

(152)

(40)

—

—

460

—

460

60,605

29

—

—

—

—

29

—

29

—

—

—

333

—

—

333

—

333

400,000

220

—

(220)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(179)

(179)

RSUs, warrants and options exercised
(note 10)
Shares released from escrow or treasury
and warrants issued related to
contingent consideration
Deferred compensation expense
Deferred consideration for acquisitions
Payment of non-controlling interests
Net income (loss) for the period
Balance at March 31, 2018
1

Number of
common
shares1

Equity
portion of
Contributed convertible
surplus
borrowings
$
$

Equity
attributable
to the
shareholders
of Centric
Health
Corporation
$

—

—

—

—

—

(1,724)

(1,724)

25

(1,699)

203,085,170

129,787

653

29,076

—

(140,741)

18,775

301

19,076

Excludes 5,054,232 of contingent shares held in escrow and restricted shares as at March 31, 2018 (note 10).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018
$

2017
$

(1,699)

(3,870)

1,668
(118)
—
857
1,410
119
(26)
298
458
331
(434)
(3,180)
(316)

3,821
149
25
749
1,640
(64)
(298)
985
324
(958)
(428)
(961)
1,114

Investing activities
Proceeds on disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets
Acquisition of businesses (note 3)
Purchase of property and equipment (note 5)
Purchase of intangible assets (note 5)
Payment of contingent consideration (note 4)
Investments (note 11)
Cash used in investing activities

—
(490)
(462)
(280)
(133)
(750)
(2,115)

8
—
(1,604)
(124)
(500)
—
(2,220)

Financing activities
Interest paid
Withdrawal from Revolving Facility and New Revolving Facility

(1,532)
3,751

(243)
1,447

(69)
(179)
460
2,431

(77)
(71)
50
1,106

—
—
—

—
—
—

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Net loss for the period
Adjustments for:
Interest expense (note 15)
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 11)
Loss on disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 5)
Amortization of finite-life intangible assets (note 5)
Amortization of lease incentives and lease inducements
Income taxes paid
Income tax expense
Share-based compensation expense (note 10)
Change in the fair value of contingent consideration liability (note 4)
Supply agreement arrangements, net of amortization (note 9)
Net change in non-cash working capital items (note 18)
Cash provided (used in) by operating activities

Repayment of finance leases
Payments to non-controlling interests
Proceeds from warrants and options exercised
Cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

1. Significant Accounting Policies
Centric Health Corporation, together with its subsidiaries (collectively “Centric Health” or “the Company”), is incorporated under
the Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and is incorporated and domiciled
in Canada. The Company’s principal business is providing healthcare services to its patients and customers in Canada. The address
of the Company’s registered office is 20 Eglinton Avenue West, Suite 2100, Toronto, Ontario.
Basis of preparation
These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting as outlined by International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and its interpretations as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). They do not include all the information required for a complete set of IFRS
financial statements. However, selected explanatory notes are included to explain events and transactions that are significant to
an understanding of the changes in the Company's financial position and performance since the last annual consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017.
With the exception of the new standards adopted by the Company described below, the accounting policies applied in these
unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements are consistent with the significant accounting policies used in
the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company has
consistently applied the same accounting policies throughout all periods presented, unless otherwise noted, as if these policies
had always been in effect.
These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors (the "Board")
on May 8, 2018.
New accounting standards adopted by the Company
The Company has initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments beginning
January 1, 2018. A number of other amendments are also effective from January 1, 2018 but they do not have a material effect
on the Company’s financial statements.
The effect of initially applying these standards is mainly attributed to the following:
•

A change in the timing of recognition of revenue from Family Practice memberships and Executive Health Assessment
("EHA") bundle contracts, as discussed further below.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 provides a comprehensive five-step revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers in determining whether,
how much and when revenue is recognized. The standard replaces all previous revenue recognition standards, including IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.
The Company has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method, without prior period comparatives restated, with
the effect of initially applying this standard at the date of initial application (i.e. January 1, 2018). Accordingly, the information
presented for 2017 has not been restated - it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related interpretations.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
The details of the significant new accounting policies and the nature of the changes to previous accounting policies in relation
to the Company's adoption of IFRS 15 are set out below.
Type of
Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations,
product/service significant payment terms

Nature of change in accounting policy

Revenue is recognized at the point in time in which the prescription
drugs are delivered to the customer as the performance obligation
related to the sale of prescription drugs is satisfied at that time, with
the customer gaining control of the goods.
Revenue related to the rendering of pharmacy services is recognized
at the point in time in which the services are rendered. Pharmacy
Pharmacy - Sale services represent a distinct service from the sale of prescription
of prescription drugs, with a separate transaction price.
drugs and
rendering of
For customers with coverage for prescriptions either through a
pharmacy
provincial health plan or third-party insurer, claims are submitted to
services
the government and/or insurance companies and payment for
eligible claims are remitted to the Company once or twice a month,
depending on the insurer.

IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
accounting policies.

For amounts payable directly by the customers, generally, statements
are sent to the customers on a monthly basis, with payments due no
later than 30 days.
Revenue is recognized at the point in time in which these services are
provided. Payments are made in advance or at the time of service.
Advance payments or deposits are recorded as deferred revenue and
recognized as revenue when the services are rendered.
Surgical
Procedures

The Company has identified two distinct performance obligations
related to the surgical procedure services. The first performance
IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
obligation relates to the pre-operative consultation and the second
accounting policies.
relates to the surgical procedure and associated post-operative
follow-up appointments. The Company charges customers for the
consultation and the surgical procedure (including post-operative
follow-up appointments) separately. As such, there is no need to
allocate the transaction prices to each of the performance obligations
under IFRS 15 as the amounts charged are reflective of each
performance obligation's standalone selling price.
Within the Surgical and Medical Centres segment, there is a feebased Family Practice Department at one of its locations. In
exchange for an annual fee, a Family Practice membership provides
the Company's patients with access to one-hour medical
appointments and other benefits for the duration of their
membership. Under certain packages, Family Practice members
receive a limited number of annual visits, while other packages
provide for an unlimited number of visits.

Family Practice
Memberships

Previously, with EHAs that were included as part
of Family Practice memberships, the Company
did not allocate any portion of the transaction
price to the EHAs, and recognized the total
transaction price as revenue over the term of
the membership.

Following the adoption of IFRS 15, all
performance obligations in a contract must be
with a requirement to allocate the
Payments are made in full at the commencement of the membership identified,
transaction price to each performance
and revenue is recognized evenly over the term of the membership
obligation. In this case, the total consideration
as the services provided over the membership term represent a
received from the service contract is allocated to
single performance obligation.
all performance obligations identified based on
relative stand-alone selling prices. The
In certain Family Practice packages, annual EHAs are provided as part their
stand-alone selling price is determined based on
of the membership. In these cases, the annual EHA and the Family
the list prices at which the Company sells the
Practice membership have been identified as two separate
services in separate transactions.
performance obligations of the contract with the customer. The
Company allocates the transaction price from the package to the
Upon adoption of IFRS 15, a lower portion of the
EHAs and the Family Practice memberships based on their relative
consideration is allocated to the Family Practice
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are
memberships. As a result, a larger portion of
determined based on the list prices at which the Company sells the
revenue (relating to the EHAs) may be deferred
services in separate transactions.
throughout the earlier periods of the
membership term, depending on the timing of
Revenue allocated to the Family Practice membership is recognized
evenly over the term of the membership while revenue related to the the provision of EHAs.
EHA is recognized at the point in time in which the service is
The impact of this change in the Company's
provided.
accounting policies was not significant.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Standalone
Executive
Health
Assessments
Other Annual
Programs Surgical

Revenue is recognized at the point in time that the service is
provided. Depending on the nature of the arrangement, EHAs are
generally paid for at the time of assessment, for individuals, and
within 30 days if invoiced to corporate customers.
Individuals may also sign up for support programs or follow-up
programs pursuant to a surgical procedure (e.g. gastric band
insertion). These programs are priced at a flat fee for each year and
paid in advance of the program's commencement.

IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
accounting policies.

IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
accounting policies.

Revenue is recognized on a straight line basis over the length of the
membership term.

Certain organizations contract with the Company to be their
preferred partner for health services for its members. These
programs generally require a master service agreement to establish
the general terms of the arrangement, followed by individual service
for the provision of each service. Under these
Third Party and requisitions
agreements, the Company typically provides surgical procedures or
Government
the use of its facilities for surgical procedures. Invoices are generated IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
Programs after the procedures are performed and are billed to the
Surgical
accounting policies.
Procedures and organization. Invoices are usually paid within 45 days.
Facility Rental
Revenue for surgical procedures is recognized in the same manner as
the Surgical Procedures noted above.
Revenue for facility rental hours is recognized as they are provided
over the term of the agreements.
Sale of
Orthotics
Products

Revenue is recognized at the point in time in which the orthotics are
delivered to the customer as the performance obligation related to
the sale of the orthotics products is satisfied at that time, with the
customer gaining control of the goods. Payments are made in
advance or at the time of ordering.

IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
accounting policies.

The Company occasionally enters into arrangements with arms
length parties where the Company provides services such as
executive health assessments in exchange for promotional or
advertising services.
Barter
Transactions

IFRS 15 requires non-cash consideration received from customers to IFRS 15 did not impact the Company's
be recorded as revenue at the fair value of the consideration
accounting policies.
received. If the fair value of non-cash consideration is not reasonably
determinable, the Company measures revenue earned from these
transactions at the stand-alone selling price of services provided to
the customer, as an established market price for each service is
available.

Based on the number of Family Practice bundles with EHAs, the impact of the initial adoption of IFRS 15 with respect to the
change in accounting policy for Family Practice membership was not significant.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial instruments addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement that relates to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed
measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") and fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL"). The basis of classification depends on
the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments
are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in
fair value in OCI not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model
used in IAS 39.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own
credit risk in other comprehensive income for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes the
requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests.
There were no material impacts from the transition to IFRS 9 on the profit and loss statement or balance sheet.
There has not been any significant impact from the adoption of IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at January 1,
2018, as described further below. The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement
categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Company’s financial assets as
at January 1, 2018.

New Measurement
Original Carrying
Category Under IFRS 9 Amount Under IAS 39

Carrying Amount
Under IFRS 9

Financial Asset

Original Measurement
Category Under IAS 39

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

—

—

Trade and other receivables

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

16,395

16,395

FVTPL

FVTPL

280

280

Cost

FVTPL

1,000

1,000

17,675

17,675

Derivative financial instruments
Investments
Balance, January 1, 2018

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables that were previously measured as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are now subsequently measured
at amortized cost under IFRS 9. As the Company intends to hold trade and other receivables with the objective of collecting the
associated contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from trade and other receivables consist solely of payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, the business model and contractual cash flow conditions for measurement
under amortized cost were met.
Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement related to its New Credit Facilities (note 8). Under IAS 39, this interest
rate swap was not designated as a cash flow hedge and it was measured at FVTPL. This asset has been mandatorily measured
at FVTPL under IFRS 9 as it did not meet the conditions for subsequent measurement under amortized cost or FVOCI.
Investments
This investment balance represents the investment that the Company has made in AceAge (note 11). Under IAS 39, this investment
was measured at cost as there was no quoted market price and the value of the investment could not otherwise be measured
reliably. This asset has been mandatorily measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9 as it did not meet the conditions for subsequent
measurement under amortized cost or FVOCI.
Under IFRS 9, it is acknowledged that in certain circumstances, cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value. The Company
has considered the guidance provided by IFRS 9 and all available information about the performance and operations of the
investee and has concluded that cost is representative of the fair value of the investment at the date of adoption of IFRS 9. The
Company will perform an assessment at each reporting date to determine if cost is still the best estimate of fair value. If the
Company identifies any relevant factors that would indicate that cost is not representative of fair value, the Company will make
use of other valuation methods to determine the fair value.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Impairment of Financial Assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (“ECL”) model. The new impairment model applies
to financial assets measured at amortized cost, contract assets and debt instruments measured at FVOCI, but not to investments
in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are generally recognized earlier than under IAS 39.
Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the financial assets of the Company measured at amortized cost consist of cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables.
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances for expected credit losses are measured on either of the following bases:
•

12-month ECL - ECLs that result from possible default events within 12 months after the reporting date; and

•

lifetime ECLs - ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured based
on 12-month ECLs:
•

other receivables and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

In applying the IFRS 9 impairment requirements, the Company has applied the general approach to cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables, while the Company has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs using the simplified approach.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical
experience, credit assessment and other forward-looking information.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed
to credit risk.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company
expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Due to the short term nature of the Company’s financial
assets measured at amortized cost, the time value of money is not expected to be significant in the calculation of the ECL.
Impact of the new impairment model
The Company has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at January 1, 2018 does not result in a
significant change in the loss allowance recognized by the Company.
For trade receivables, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine the ECLs based on actual credit loss experience with
consideration of forward-looking information including changes to economic conditions that would impact its customers. The
Company performed the calculation of ECLs separately for government/insurance payers and individual customers.
For other receivables, the Company applied the general approach, considering any significant increases in credit risk for other
receivables since inception. In determining the ECLs for other receivables, the Company considered historical default rates and
the impact of forward-looking information related to regulatory, economic and geographic conditions that would impact the
payers.
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2. Capital Management, Liquidity Risk and Financing
The Company manages its capital structure based on the funds available to the Company in order to support the continuation
and expansion of its operations, which primarily operates in an environment in which government regulations and funding play
a key role. The Board establishes a quantitative return on capital criteria, which it reviews with management on a regular basis.
The Company defines capital to include share capital, warrants and the stock option component of its shareholders' equity as
well as its borrowings and contingent consideration. In addition to the cash flow generated by operations, the Company relies
on debt and equity financing from both arm's length and related parties to execute on its stated business strategy. In order to
maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may seek financing through the issuance of securities such as equity,
convertible or subordinated debt, or by replacing existing debt with debt on terms more consistent with the Company's needs.
On November 10, 2017, the Company amended its agreements for the New Credit Facilities to increase the threshold on its debt
to trailing twelve month EBITDA covenants in order to mitigate potential future breaches of the financial covenants in the first
half of 2018. On March 20, 2018, the Company further amended its agreements for the New Credit Facilities to increase the
threshold on its debt to trailing twelve month EBITDA covenant and decrease the threshold on its fixed-charge coverage ratio
covenant. The March 20, 2018 amendment relates to the fourth quarter of 2017 and the first three quarters of 2018 due to noncompliance as of December 31, 2017 and to mitigate potential future breaches of covenants in 2018 as a result of timing differences
in the transition between contracts and the delayed on-boarding of beds from issues with a third-party supplier. Although the
Company received an amendment subsequent to December 31, 2017, as required under IFRS, the Company presented its total
borrowings amount of $81,071 as of December 31, 2017 as a current liability. The Company was in compliance with its amended
financial performance covenants as at December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018, and, as such, has presented its borrowings to
show both the current and non-current balances.
Based on its 2018 operating budget, business re-engineering plan and cash flow management initiatives, the Company believes
it will be in compliance with the amended financial performance covenants at each quarterly measurement date through to the
end of 2018. The Company also anticipates that based on meeting the 2018 operating budget, along with the impact of its business
re-engineering plan, it will generate sufficient cash flow from operations in 2018 to meet its obligations as they come due.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving the results as set out in its operating plan for each
of the quarters in 2018. Initiatives are underway to offset the impact of regulatory changes, focused on re-engineering the
businesses to achieve operational efficiencies through work flow improvements, enhanced labour models, expanding service
and product offerings, identifying other revenue generating opportunities and utilization of technology for automating processes.
In the event these initiatives, combined with continued organic growth and management of working capital, do not generate
sufficient cash flow from operations to meet its obligations as they come due, the Company may need to generate funds from
other sources of financing. These circumstances may cast significant doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and the ultimate appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.
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3. Business Combinations
On January 31, 2018, the Company paid $490 and issued 400,000 shares to settle the deferred cash and shares for the 2016
acquisition of Vic’s Pharmacy Services Ltd. (“Grande Prairie”). Grande Prairie is the owner of two specialty pharmacy operations
providing retail and specialty clinical services, and servicing long term care and retirement living homes in Grande Prairie.
Consideration on closing consisted of $3,750 in cash, $490 in deferred cash, and 590,000 closing shares and 400,000 deferred
shares with a fair value at closing of $325 and $220, respectively, based on the listed share price of the Company of $0.55. In
addition, the fair value of contingent consideration on closing was $1,064, as described further in note 4.

4. Contingent Consideration
The fair value of contingent consideration is an estimate. The valuation model considers possible scenarios of forecast EBITDA
or other performance metrics, the amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario. The fair value is
dependent on certain inputs such as forecast EBITDA, non-financial metrics, risk adjusted discount rates and the Company's share
price.
The continuity of the contingent consideration liability to be settled in cash, common shares and warrants is as follows:
CareRx
Balance at December 31, 2017
Change in fair value during the period
Contingent consideration settled in shares
Contingent consideration settled in cash
Balance at March 31, 2018
Less: current portion
Non-current portion at March 31, 2018

Grande Prairie

Salus

Other

Total

$

$

$

$

$

1,157

1,079

1,402

1,001

4,639

109

131

23

68

331

—

—

(29)

—

(29)

—

—

(133)

—

(133)

1,266

1,210

1,263

1,069

4,808

—

674

508

735

1,917

1,266

536

755

334

2,891

On October 7, 2016, the Company recorded a contingent consideration liability as part of the consideration for the acquisition
of CareRx in the amount of $2,988, which represented its fair value at the date of acquisition, payable over a three year period.
The fair value on acquisition consisted of $967 in performance cash, $468 in performance shares (up to a maximum 2,500,000
common shares) and $nil in warrants (up to a maximum of 2,000,000 warrants) based on the share price of the Company's
common shares on October 7, 2016 ($0.36 per share), and the probability of meeting or exceeding EBITDA targets and executing
certain long-term contracts. The warrants will vest if CareRx exceeds the EBITDA target and/or executes certain long-term
contracts, allowing the holder to purchase one share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.395 over a 2 year term. In addition,
the fair value of contingent consideration on the date of acquisition included $1,553, which is payable depending on the Company's
share price on a future date. This amount was estimated based on a risk-adjusted discount rate of 10% and the Company's share
price on the acquisition date. As a result of CareRx's performance to date, a change to the probabilities of forecast EBITDA and
the execution of certain long-term contracts were made, resulting in the contingent consideration liability being reduced to the
ending liability as at December 31, 2017 of $1,157. As of March 31, 2018, the expected range of the potential undiscounted
amounts payable remaining is between $nil and $9,403.
On December 22, 2016, the Company recorded a contingent consideration liability as part of the consideration for the acquisition
of Grande Prairie in the amount of $1,064, which represented its fair value at the date of acquisition, payable over a three year
period. The fair value on acquisition consisted of $405 in performance cash, $220 in performance shares (up to a maximum of
400,000 common shares) and $nil in warrants (up to a maximum of 400,000 warrants) based on the share price of the Company's
common shares on December 22, 2016 ($0.55 per share) and the probability of meeting or exceeding EBITDA targets. On the
acquisition date and as at March 31, 2018, the Company estimated a 100% probability of meeting the EBITDA target. The warrants
will vest if Grande Prairie exceeds the EBITDA target, allowing the holder to purchase one share of the Company at an exercise
price of $0.5382 over a 2 year term. In addition, the fair value of contingent consideration on the date of acquisition included
$439, which is payable depending on the Company's share price on a future date. This amount was estimated based on a riskadjusted discount rate of 10% and the Company's share price on the acquisition date. As of March 31, 2018, the expected range
of potential undiscounted amounts payable remaining is between $nil and $1,951.
Centric Health Corporation March 31, 2018 and 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. Contingent Consideration - continued
On November 15, 2017, the Company recorded a contingent consideration liability as part of the consideration for the acquisition
of Salus in the amount of $1,384, which represented its fair value at the date of acquisition, payable over a 5 year period. The
fair value on acquisition consisted of up to $1,533 in performance cash, up to 696,968 in performance shares and up to 1,000,000
warrants subject to certain performance benchmarks being achieved over a 5 year period. On the acquisition date and as at
March 31, 2018, the Company estimated a 70% probability of meeting the performance benchmarks. The warrants will vest on
renewal of a long-term contract, allowing the holder to purchase one common share of the Company for each warrant at an
exercise price of $0.6455 over a 2 year term. In addition, the fair value of contingent consideration on the date of acquisition
included $91, which is payable depending on the Company's share price on a future date. This amount was estimated based on
a risk-adjusted discount rate of 10% and the Company's share price on the acquisition date. As of March 31, 2018, the expected
range of potential undiscounted amounts payable remaining is between $nil and $3,057.
On January 30, 2018, the Company paid out $133 in performance cash and 60,605 performance shares related to the completion
of a portion of the Salus earnout.
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5. Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Property and Equipment
Goodwill
$

Intangible Assets
$

Goodwill and
Intangible Assets
$

Property and
Equipment
$

Year ended December 31, 2017
Cost
Balance at December 31, 2016
Acquisition of business
Additions
Disposals
Reversal of impairment
Purchase price allocation adjustment
Balance at December 31, 2017

79,789
3,077
—
—
—
(5,803)
77,063

80,098
—
2,174
(14)
322
7,915
90,495

159,887
3,077
2,174
(14)
322
2,112
167,558

25,950
229
6,846
(228)
—
—
32,797

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at December 31, 2016
Amortization charge
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2017

(7,159)
—
—
(7,159)

(55,166)
(6,313)
8
(61,471)

(62,325)
(6,313)
8
(68,630)

(13,289)
(3,209)
93
(16,405)

For the period ended March 31, 2018
Cost
Balance at December 31, 2017
Additions
Balance at March 31, 2018

77,063
—
77,063

90,495
280
90,775

167,558
280
167,838

32,797
462
33,259

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at December 31, 2017
Amortization charge
Balance at March 31, 2018

(7,159)
—
(7,159)

(61,471)
(1,410)
(62,881)

(68,630)
(1,410)
(70,040)

(16,405)
(857)
(17,262)

Net carrying value
As at December 31, 2017
As at March 31, 2018

69,904
69,904

29,024
27,894

98,928
97,798

16,392
15,997

Included in the net carrying value of property and equipment are assets under finance leases of $328 (December 31, 2017 $386). During the three month period ended March 31, 2018, additions of property and equipment acquired through finance
leases were $nil (December 31, 2017 - $53).
The Company has $1,406 of indefinite life intangible assets at March 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 - $1,406).
There has been no indication of impairment of assets during the three month period ended March 31, 2018.
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6. Income Taxes
The total provision for income taxes varies from the amounts that would be computed by applying the statutory income tax rate
of approximately 26.58% (2017 - 26.36%) to net income due to permanent differences. Permanent differences in the three month
periods ended March 30, 2018 and 2017 arose as a result of capital gains, unrecognized deferred tax assets, contingent
consideration, share-based compensation and other expenses, as these amounts have been recorded for accounting purposes
but will never be realized as income or a deduction for income tax purposes.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented on a net basis by legal entity on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
The Company's net deferred tax asset on the statement of financial position is as follows:
March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

$

$

Deferred income tax asset

3,480

3,061

Deferred income tax liability

1,012

640

Net deferred income tax liability

2,468

2,421

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carryforwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit
through future taxable income is probable. As at March 31, 2018, the Company had losses amounting to $42,000 (December 31,
2017 - $43,108) that can be carried forward against future taxable income. Based on projections for future taxable income over
the periods in which the losses should be available, a deferred income tax asset of $4,280 was recognized with respect to $15,871
losses, while the remaining portion of the losses resulted in unrecognized deferred income tax assets of $7,041 (December 31,
2017 - $7,541).

7. Trade Payables and Other Liabilities
Trade payables and other amounts are comprised of the following:

Trade payables
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Amounts payable to related parties (note 12)
Severance costs (note 14)
Total
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March 31, 2018
$
10,986
6,079
962
15
1,748
19,790

December 31, 2017
$
14,318
5,463
1,065
15
1,865
22,726

15

8. Borrowings
Borrowings consist of the following:
March 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

$
60,000
(2,431)
11,500
(521)
16,125
84,673

$
60,000
(2,146)
11,500
(656)
12,373
81,071

6,000
6,000
78,673

81,071
81,071
—

Term Facility
Unaccreted discount on Term Facility
Subordinated Facility
Unaccreted discount on Subordinated Facility
New Revolving Facility
Total borrowings
Less current portion of borrowings:
Term Facility
Total current portion of borrowings
Total non-current portion of borrowings

Substantially all of the Company's assets are pledged as security for the above borrowings.
Completion of Debt Refinancing Plan
On May 3, 2017, the Company signed definitive agreements with a syndicate of lenders comprised of three major Canadian banks
providing for new credit facilities in an aggregate amount of $113,500, which closed on May 30, 2017. The new credit facilities
are made up of up to $100,000 in senior secured facilities (the "Senior Facilities") and $13,500 in a secured subordinated term
credit facility (the "Subordinated Facility") (collectively, the "New Credit Facilities"). Subject to satisfaction of certain conditions,
the Company may increase the Senior Facilities by an additional $25,000 for total Senior Facilities of $125,000.
The New Credit Facilities were used to refinance the Company’s previous debt instruments, including its (i) revolving facility with
capacity of up to $35,000 ("Revolving Facility"), (ii) its 8.625% Notes previously due April 18, 2018 of $25,894 ("Notes") and (iii)
its 6.75% unsecured subordinated October 2017 convertible debt of $27,500 ("October 2017 CDs"), and to provide capacity for
potential acquisitions, capital expenditures, organic growth initiatives and general working capital and corporate purposes.
The Senior Facilities are structured as follows: (i) a revolving credit facility in the amount of up to $20,000, including a swingline
of up to $3,000 ("New Revolving Facility"), (ii) a non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of up to $60,000 ("Term Facility"),
and (iii) a limited revolving acquisition and capital expenditure term loan facility in the amount of up to $20,000 to be available
in multiple draws ("Acquisition Facility"). Subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, the New Revolving Facility may be increased
by an additional $5,000 and the acquisition and capital expenditure term loan facility may be increased by up to an additional
$20,000. All borrowings under the Senior Facilities mature five years after the date of the agreement.
Interest rates under the Senior Facilities vary based on the Company’s total funded debt to EBITDA ratio with a range between
0.50% to 3.25% over the Canadian prime rate for prime rate loans and 2.00% to 4.75% over CDOR for Bankers’ Acceptances and
a range of 0.40% to 1.00% for standby fees for amounts not borrowed.
The Subordinated Facility consists of a term loan to be fully drawn in one advance for a total of $13,500, which accrues interest
at a rate of 9% per annum. The Subordinated Facility matures five and a half years after the date of the agreement. On June 23,
2017, the Company prepaid $2,000 of principal balance along with a $20 cash consent fee in accordance with the Subordinated
Facility agreement. In addition, the Company may prepay other portions of the Subordinated Facility after 18 months from close
without any premium or penalty but subject to certain conditions.
In accordance with the terms of the New Credit Facilities, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement on July 4,
2017 (note 11).
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9. Other Deferred Amounts
On July 14, 2016, the Company entered into 10-year Business Development, Technology and Supply Agreements with a new drug
supplier (the "Agreements"). Under the terms of these Agreements, the Specialty Pharmacy business has committed to an
exclusive supply agreement with this supplier. In addition, the supplier has committed $16,850 to support innovative programs
and solutions, as well as organic and acquisitive growth strategies of the Company. The Company received the full amount by
the fourth quarter of 2017.
The Company has classified $16,850 as other deferred amounts and is amortizing the amounts into income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the Agreements.

10. Shareholders’ Equity and Earnings per Share
Authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. The number of common shares issued and
outstanding is as follows:
For the period ended
March 31, 2018
Common Shares
Common Shares
Stated value
Balance, beginning of period
201,468,731
128,886
Issuance of common shares
—
—
Issuance of common shares for extinguishment of debt
—
—
Common shares released from escrow or issued from treasury
for contingent consideration
60,605
29
Stock options, warrants and restricted share units exercised
Deferred consideration for acquisitions
Balance, end of period

1,155,834
400,000
203,085,170

December 31, 2017
Common Shares
Stated value
169,982,529
111,542
1,208,036
836
28,331,093
15,671

652
220
129,787

—

—

1,947,073
—
201,468,731

837
—
128,886

The number of common shares considered to be issued for financial reporting purposes is exclusive of restricted shares issued,
common shares issued in trust or held in escrow pending the achievement of certain stated milestones or performance targets.
The total common shares in aggregate at March 31, 2018 are:
Type of common shares
Freely tradeable
Escrowed and restricted
Total

203,085,170
5,054,232
208,139,402

Issuance of common shares
On January 30, 2018, the Company issued 60,605 common shares for the settlement of contingent consideration related to the
Salus acquisition.
On January 31, 2018, the Company issued 400,000 common shares as part of the deferred consideration for the acquisition of
Grande Prairie.
In 2018, the Company issued 1,155,834 common shares related to restricted share units issued to management, employees and
directors that vested and warrants and options exercised.

RSU exercised
Warrants exercised
Options exercised
Total
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March 31, 2018
Units
155,834
1,000,000
—
1,155,834

December 31, 2017
Units
1,563,573
96,000
287,500
1,947,073
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10. Shareholders’ Equity and Earnings per Share - continued
Issuance of restricted share units
On March 28, 2018, the Company issued 2,820,000 restricted share units to management and employees of the Company which
entitle the holders to 2,820,000 common shares of the Company. These restricted share units have been fair valued based on
the quoted market price of issuance of $0.46 per share and vest over three years.
On March 28, 2018, the Company issued 500,000 restricted share units to management of the Company which entitle the holders
to 500,000 common shares of the Company, of which 50% vest immediately and the remaining 50% vest in 1 year. These restricted
share units have been fair valued based on the quoted market price of issuance of $0.46 per share.
The Company's outstanding restricted share units are as follows:
For the period ended
Restricted share units
Balance, beginning of period
Restricted share units granted
Restricted share units released
Restricted share units forfeited
Balance, end of period

March 31, 2018
Units
3,224,080
3,320,000
(155,834)
(75,000)
6,313,246

December 31, 2017
Units
4,738,984
952,000
(1,563,573)
(903,331)
3,224,080

The weighted-average remaining contractual life of restricted share units outstanding as at March 31, 2018 is 2.22 years.
Issuance of warrants
The Company’s outstanding and exercisable warrants are as follows:
For the period ended

March 31, 2018
Weighted average
Warrants
exercise price

Share purchase warrants
Balance, beginning of period
Warrants granted
Warrants exercised
Balance, end of period
Exercisable, end of period

2,972,000
—
(1,000,000)
1,972,000
1,900,000

$0.81
—
$0.46
$0.98
$1.00

December 31, 2017
Weighted average
Warrants
exercise price
1,096,000
1,972,000
(96,000)
2,972,000
2,900,000

$0.45
$0.98
$0.37
$0.81
$0.81

The weighted-average remaining contractual life and weighted-average exercise price of warrants outstanding as at March 31,
2018 are as follows:
Warrants Outstanding

Range of Exercise Price
$0.51- $0.75
$0.76- $1.00
Balance, end of period

Number
Outstanding
72,000
1,900,000
1,972,000

Warrants Exercisable

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price
$0.51
$1.00
$0.98
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Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(years)
5.70
1.92
2.06

Number
Exercisable
—
1,900,000
1,900,000

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price
—
$1.00
$1.00
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10. Shareholders’ Equity and Earnings per Share - continued
Issuance of stock options
The Company’s outstanding and exercisable stock options are as follows:
For the period ended

March 31, 2018
Weighted average
Options
exercise price

Common share options
Balance, beginning of period
Options exercised
Options expired
Options canceled/forfeited
Balance, end of period
Exercisable, end of period

2,347,500
—
—
(150,000)
2,197,500
938,750

$0.39
—
—
$0.36
$0.39
$0.40

December 31, 2017
Weighted average
Options
exercise price
3,345,000
(287,500)
(370,000)
(340,000)
2,347,500
692,500

$0.49
$0.37
$0.92
$0.81
$0.39
$0.40

The weighted-average remaining contractual life and weighted-average exercise price of options outstanding as at March 31,
2018 are as follows:
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Price

Number
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(years)

$0.24- $0.30
$0.31- $0.37
$0.38- $0.39
$0.40- $0.42
$0.43- $0.52
Balance, end of period

150,000
650,000
25,000
972,500
400,000
2,197,500

$0.24
$0.36
$0.39
$0.40
$0.50
$0.39

3.2
3.3
0.6
2.0
3.7
2.8

Number
Exercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

37,500
50,000
25,000
726,250
100,000
938,750

$0.24
$0.36
$0.39
$0.40
$0.50
$0.40

Earnings per share
Earnings per share has been calculated on the basis of profit or loss for the period divided by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share, for all periods presented, was calculated based on
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and takes into account the effects of unvested common shares,
share options, warrants and convertible debt outstanding during the period. Loss per share is not adjusted for anti-dilutive
instruments. The diluted weighted average calculation is based on a time weighting factor that includes all share options, restricted
share units, warrants and conversion features that were issued at prices lower than the market price of the Company’s common
shares at the respective period-ends. These instruments were anti-dilutive for the periods presented.
The following table illustrates the basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for the three month periods
ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:
For the three month periods ended March 31,

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding
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2017

202,110,496

179,693,158
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11. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements
At March 31, 2018, the Company's financial instruments consisted of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
interest rate swaps, investments, trade and other payables, contingent consideration, finance lease liabilities and borrowings.
Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value have been categorized under three levels of fair value hierarchy as follows:
•

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Fair value is determined based on quoted prices of regularly and recently occurring transactions take place.

•

Level 2: Inputs that are observable for the assets or liabilities either directly or indirectly
This level of the hierarchy includes derivative financial instruments with major Canadian chartered banks.

•

Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.
This level of the hierarchy includes contingent consideration settled with the Company's common shares and derivative
liabilities associated with convertible loans.

Recurring fair value measurements at March 31, 2018 are as follows:

Contingent consideration
Interest rate swap
Investments
Total

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

—
398
—
398

4,808
—
1,750
6,558

4,808
398
1,750
6,956

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

—
280
—
280

4,639
—
1,000
5,639

4,639
280
1,000
5,919

Recurring fair value measurements at December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Contingent consideration
Interest rate swap
Investments
Total

There were no non-recurring fair value measurements at March 31, 2018. There were no financial instruments classified as level
1 at March 31, 2018 and 2017. There were no transfers between levels during the three month period ended March 31, 2018.
Details regarding level 3 fair value measurements for contingent consideration can be found in note 4.
There were no changes in the valuation techniques used during the three month period ended March 31, 2018.
On July 4, 2017, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $34,000 and a fixed interest
rate of 1.82% per annum (excluding the stamping fee). This agreement expires on September 30, 2020. As at March 31, 2018,
the Company has a total notional amount of $32,500 outstanding and the fair value of this swap was $398 in favour of the
Company. The interest rate swap is not designated as a cash flow hedge.
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11. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements - continued
The continuity of the derivative financial instruments is as follows:

Derivative financial instruments, beginning of period
Change in fair value of derivative liability portion of convertible borrowings
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps
Derivative financial instruments, end of period

For the three month
period ended March 31,
2018

For the year ended
December 31, 2017

$
280
—
118
398

$
(254)
254
280
280

The carrying value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost is an approximation of the fair
value for the following financial assets and financial liabilities unless otherwise disclosed below:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost:
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Trade payables and other amounts
Finance lease liability
Term Facility
Subordinated Facility
New Revolving Facility

March 31, 2018
$

December 31, 2017
$

16,723

16,395

19,790
293
57,569
10,979
16,125

22,726
362
57,854
10,844
12,373

Investment in AceAge Inc. ("AceAge")
On August 9, 2017 the Company signed a strategic distribution and supply agreement and a strategic investment with AceAge,
a Canadian corporation, for its home-based automated drug delivery appliance ("Karie"). On August 9, 2017, the Company
invested $1,000 to acquire a 10% interest in AceAge, with the opportunity to invest a further $1,000 to acquire an additional 10%
interest on or before the first anniversary of the agreement, contingent on certain conditions being met. The Company has the
option to waive the conditions and invest within 90 days of the expiry of the first anniversary date. The Company will receive
warrants worth 5% of AceAge on or before each of the first and second anniversary dates from the closing date and will have a
seat on AceAge's Board of Directors for the period that it remains a shareholder.
On March 14, 2018, the Company acquired an additional 5% interest in AceAge for $500 to help fund the production of the first
batch of Karie. The Company also received a further 2.5% interest in AceAge for its provision of certain ongoing support and
consulting services, increasing its ownership interest in AceAge to 17.5% as at March 31, 2018.
As at March 31, 2018, the remaining investment from the second tranche of $500 would increase the Company's ownership stake
to 22.5%.
The Company has measured its investment in AceAge at fair value through profit and loss in accordance with IFRS 9. The Company
has concluded that cost is representative of the fair value of the investment as at March 31, 2018 and will continue to perform
an assessment at each reporting date to determine if cost is still the best estimate of fair value at that time.
Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk to the extent that its clients become unable to meet their payment obligations. The
Company’s exposure to concentrations of credit risk is limited. Trade receivables include amounts receivable from the sale of
goods and services to government agencies, employers, insurance companies and individual patients.
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11. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements - continued
Trade and other receivables aging (net of provision) was as follows:
March 31, 2018
$
13,392
1,599
685
1,047
16,723

0 - 30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days

December 31, 2017
$
12,461
2,179
834
921
16,395

Included in trade and other receivables at March 31, 2018 are $6,364 (December 31, 2017 - $5,042) of amounts receivable from
government funding related to product sales and services rendered.
The movement in the provision for impairment against trade and other receivables was as follows:
March 31, 2018
$
200
31
(77)
154

Provision, beginning of period
Provision for receivables impairment
Write-offs charged to the valuation allowance
Provision, end of period

December 31, 2017
$
193
7
—
200

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held through Canadian chartered banks. The Company is not exposed to significant
credit risk arising from its financial instruments.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash, another financial asset or equity instruments. The following table presents the contractual
terms to maturity of the financial liabilities owned by the Company as at March 31, 2018:

Trade payables and other amounts
Term Facility
Subordinated Facility
New Revolving Facility
Finance leases
Interest payments on borrowings
Operating leases
Contingent Consideration

Total
$
19,790
60,000
11,500
16,125
293
20,414
10,279
4,808
143,209

2018
$
19,790
4,875
—
—
150
4,343
2,257
1,243
32,658

2019-2020
$
—
11,025
—
—
143
10,656
4,616
2,763
29,203

2021-2022
$
—
44,100
11,500
16,125
—
5,415
3,060
802
81,002

Thereafter
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
346
—
346

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into significant commitments for the purchase of goods and services, such
as the purchase of inventory, most of which are short-term in nature and are settled under normal trade terms.
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11. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements - continued
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk borne by an interest-bearing asset or liability as a result of fluctuations in interest rates. The Company
is exposed to interest rate risk through its floating rate New Revolving Facility and Term Facility, whose interest rates are based
on the prime rate.
As at March 31, 2018, a 1% change in the variable interest rates on the average balances for the three month period ended March
31, 2018 would have resulted in an annualized change in interest expense of $402 (December 31, 2017 - $351).
Currency Risk
Virtually all of the Company’s transactions are denominated in Canadian dollars. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the
Company held no significant financial instruments that were denominated in a currency other than Canadian currency.

12. Related Party Transactions and Balances
Global Healthcare Investments and Solutions, Inc. ("GHIS") and entities controlled by and related to the shareholders of GHIS,
including Jamon Investments LLC ("Jamon"), own 84,533,547 common shares or approximately 41% of the issued and outstanding
common shares of the Company as at March 31, 2018. This ownership percentage disclosed assumes the issuance of 5,054,232
escrowed and restricted shares in the total common shares considered to be outstanding.
Related party transactions
In the normal course of operations, the Company may enter into certain related party transactions, which may include transactions
entered into with Company directors and management. All related party transactions would be for consideration established
with the related parties, generally on market terms, and approved by the independent non-executive directors of the Company,
including the transactions described below.
One of the Board members, who is also a director and committee member of some of the underlying businesses, is assisting
management on an interim basis. Included in the results for the three month period ended March 31, 2018 are $45 (2017 - $30)
of consulting fees related to this arrangement. Included in trade payables and other amounts at March 31, 2018 is $15 (2017 $15) due to the Board member for consulting fees.
Related party loans
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company launched a Key Employee Engagement Share Plan ("KEESP") to enable eligible employees
to acquire common shares of the Company. The KEESP allows employees to contribute towards the purchase of common shares
of the Company whereby the Company will match employee contributions by up to three times with payments capped at a
predetermined level. The portion of funds matched by the Company is repayable by the employees as a promissory note bearing
interest at 3% in equal annual installments over five years. A receivable from employees of $60 (December 31, 2017 - $60) has
been included in trade and other receivables. The Company terminated the KEESP on March 21, 2018.
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13. General and Administrative Expenses
The components of general and administrative expenses are as follows:
For the three month periods ended March 31,

Employee costs
Other operating expenses
Corporate office expenses
Depreciation and amortization 2
Share-based compensation expense
Loss on disposal of property, equipment and intangibles
Total
2

2018
$
4,722
5,518
1,250
2,267
458
—
14,215

2017
$
4,460
5,258
1,623
2,389
324
25
14,079

Comparative figures reflect a retroactive adjustment for intangibles amortization related to the purchase price allocations finalized in Q3 2017

14. Transaction, Restructuring and Other Costs
Transaction, restructuring and other costs are expensed as incurred. Transaction costs are comprised primarily of legal, consulting,
due diligence and other professional fees directly related to business combinations and divestitures. Start-up costs for new
initiatives are costs incurred by the Company for a new business initiative prior to this initiative generating any revenue.
Restructuring and other costs include legal, consulting and other professional fees associated with business restructuring, costs
associated with new customer contract implementation, as well as severance and other costs associated with corporate
reorganization and other staffing reductions.
Transaction, restructuring and other costs for the three month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 consist of the following:
For the three month periods ended
March 31,

Transaction and start-up costs
Restructuring and other costs
Total

2018
$
15
486
501

2017
$
181
1,475
1,656

At March 31, 2018, the Company had accrued liabilities from continuing operations related to severance of $1,748 (December 31,
2017 - $1,865) included in trade and other payables consisting of the following:
Balance at December 31, 2017
Additions
Payments
Balance at March 31, 2018
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$
1,865
186
(303)
1,748
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15. Interest Expense
Interest expense for the three month periods ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 is comprised of the following:
For the three month periods ended March 31,
2018

2017

$

$

Interest on Term Facility

936

—

Accretion on Term Facility

(19)

—

Interest on Subordinated Facility

255

—

Accretion on Subordinated Facility

170

—

Interest on New Revolving Facility

322

—

Interest on capital leases

4

11

Interest on Revolving Facility and second lien senior secured notes

—

873

Amortization of loan arrangement fees

—

40

Interest on promissory note

—

50

Accretion of promissory note discounts

—

97

Interest on convertible debt

—

561

Accretion on convertible debt

—

921

—

1,268

1,668

3,821

Loss on repayment of borrowings
Total interest expense

16. Segmented Information
The Company presents two reportable operating segments based on the various products and services that it offers, as follows:
(i) Specialty Pharmacy and (ii) Surgical and Medical Centres.
Certain general and administrative corporate costs have been allocated to the reportable segments based on the extent of
corporate management’s involvement in the reportable segment during the year. Those costs that generally represent the costs
associated with a publicly-listed entity, as well as legal fees, advisory fees and acquisition-related services provided by independent
third parties have been reported in the Corporate reportable segment.

For the three month period ended March 31, 2018

Revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Income (loss) before interest expense, income taxes and
discontinued operations 3
Interest expense

Specialty
Pharmacy
$

Surgical and
Medical Centres
$

Corporate
$

Total
$

33,539
1,665

10,933
468

—
134

44,472
2,267

1,481

988

(2,202)

267

—

—

1,668

1,668

3

Included in the income (loss) before interest expense, income taxes and discontinued operations for the Corporate segment is a non-cash gain of $331 (2017
- $958 loss) from the net change in the fair value of the contingent consideration liability for the year, $147 (2017 - $346) in transaction and restructuring costs
and a non-cash gain of $118 (2017 - $149 loss) from the change in fair value of derivative financial instruments.
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16. Segmented Information - continued
For the three month period ended March 31, 2017
Specialty
Pharmacy
$

Surgical and
Medical Centres
$

Revenue

32,907

Depreciation and amortization

1,734

Income (loss) before interest expense, income taxes and
discontinued operations
Interest expense

Corporate
$

Total
$

10,656

—

43,563

464

191

2,389

1,871

740

(1,675)

936

—

—

3,821

3,821

17. Contingencies
From time to time the Company is involved in litigation, investigations or proceedings related to claims arising out of its operations
in the ordinary course of business, and the completion of acquisitions or divestitures. The Company believes that these claims
and lawsuits in the aggregate, when settled are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

18. Supplementary Disclosure to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The net change in non-cash working capital comprises the following:
For the three month periods ended March 31,

Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Trade payables and other amounts
Total
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2018
$
(328)
690
(367)
(3,175)
(3,180)

2017
$
294
100
(122)
(1,233)
(961)
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